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" CORNELIUS AGRIPPA.

——

CHAPTER 1

UP THE HILL OF LIFE.

THE scene of the labours of Cornelius Agrippa for two
or three years before and after the date (1516) which we
have now reached, varies only within the limits of Geneva,
Burgundy, Piedmont, Savoy, and Lorraine—a region in-
tersected by the Alps—everywhere, either within or about
the borders of the German Empire, Italy and France.
Friends made at Déle, at Geneva, and while he was
attached to the Italian camp, furnished him with new
friends from among their own connexions; thus, therefore,
it happened that the district above specified had come to
be the ground on which Agrippa had the greatest chance
of prospering. '

The Marquises of Monferrat were bound by various
relations, all of them friendly with the neighbouring
ducal house of Savoy. The two families intermarried

more than once. The Monferrats owned Turin before

VOL. II. . B
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2 CORNELIUS AGRIPPA.

the Dukes of Savoy had it for their capital, and when the
line of Paleologus failed, not very long after this date, the
Duke of Savoy was among the candidates for a succession
to the Marquisate.

To the Duke of Savoy, Cornelius Agrippa seems to
have been successfully commended by his patron when,
prompt to hope, he wrote a few lines to his friend Rosati?,
saying that, “ Never man could have been rescued for
better fortune from the utmost peril.” There were friends
in sundry places, knowing both his merit and his need,
who were exerting themselves to procure for him another
start in life, but the first offer was that from Savoy. It
had a double promise in it. Not only was there the ducal
favour, but there was a proposal made by a reverend dig-
nitary of the Church at Vercelli, not Augustine Ferrerius
the bishop, but a most illustrious Hannibal, who must have
held high rank in the town, to take Cornelius into his
service, giving him a pension of two hundred ducats and
a house of his own choosing?. He made this offer, after
having seen the little treatise upon “ Knowledgeé of God,”
and made many inquiries about its author. He desired
also that the fact of his having proposed anything should
be kept as secret as possible, and Agrippa’s friend at Ver-
celli, when writing to state his offer, was to add that any
arrangement consequent upon acceptance of it could not
take effect immediately. He would say in a few days
when Agrippa was to come. Agrippa’s friend, however,
told him that if he found it most convenient to come at

* Ep. 53, Lib. i. p. 719, 2 Ep. 64, Lib. i. pp. 719, 720.



*
AN OFFER OF HELP FROM VERCELLI. 3

once, he had much better do so and leave him to procure
a due arrangement with the reverend lord. The proposed
patron saying nothing more upon the subject for a week,
the friendly scholar who took charge of Agrippa’s in-
terests considered it imprudent to be troublesome ; but
in the mean time he advised Cornelius to come, himself
offering a home until every arrangement was perfeeted
and a house was ready. There was also Lodovico Cer-
nolel, a nobleman in Vercelli, offering to place his palace
at the disposal of Cornelius Agrippa and his family. So
stood the matter on the 4th of March, 1516. On the 8th
of March, Agrippa’s friend, bound to Vercelli by his
duties as a preacher, was glad at the prospect of a visit
from Casale?. From Casale to Vercelliis a distance of not
more than about thirteen miles. Vercelli is a populous
town which belonged sometimes to Savoy, sometimes to
Milan, and was used by the Dukes of Savoy when they
had it—as they had at this time—as a place of occasional
residence. :

Cornelius spent a few days with his friend, who there-
after urged his prompt return; he had promised to be in
Vercelli again before the end of the month, as Father
Chrysostom was witnesss, and they were desiring him as
harts desire the water brooks. In every one of these
letters Agrippa’s wife is mentioned with the kindliest re-
membrance, as indeed she was by nearly all his corre-
spondents.

' Ep. 55, Lib. i, p. 720. * Ep. 56, Lib. i. p. 720.
* Ep. b7, Lib. i. pp. 720, 721.’
- B2



4 CORNELIUS AGRIPPA.

In the mean time the Lord Hannibal had made up his
mind; he had been showing the treatises on Man and on
the Three Ways of Knowing God to a great Theologian
of ‘the Dominicans, and the Theologian had spoken with
such extreme praise of these works, that the illustrious
and reverend Lord Hannibal desired to have Cornelius
for client a hundred times more than before!. Agrippa’s
friends were looking out a house for him in Vercelli, but
had not found anything suitable, therefore it was urged
that he should accept Lodovico Cernole’s liberal offer of
his palace till the house was found, unless he preferred
profiting by the hospitality of a noble widow, friend of
Agrippa’s correspondent, who would be glad to spare, for
a few days, part of her house to the philosopher, his wife,
and children. This was on the twenty-second of March.

But the illustrious and reverend Lord Hannibal was
lukewarm in the business. He might be stimulated now
and then to energy, but he does not seem to have carried
out his offer in the spirit that alone could make it accept-
able.” On the second of June?, Agrippa’s friend, the monk
at Vercelli, hindered by his preachings, and the patron’s
not having come to the city, had not quite arrived at
a right understanding with the magnate, but intended
speaking to him when he saw him next. The end of the
matter was, that for that year, Cornelius, who had
brought his family about him at Casale, stayed there
under shelter of Monferrat’s friendship. He had made

* Ep. 58, Lib. i. p, 721. * Ep. 59, Lib. i. p. 722.



THE FRIENDSHIP OF LANDULPH. 5

also a warm friend at Rivolta in the senior preceptor
of St. Antony’s Monastery, John Laureritin, native of
Lyons!. In September, too, there was Landulph, after. a
vain ramble in search of better fortune, bringing his wife
Penthesilea back to Rosati’s house at Lavizaro, and thence
writing to tell his friend that there he was, and that he
was there waiting to see what he could do for him with
Monferrat?.

There is something pleasant to consider in the friend-
ship of these two men, tossing helplessly with wives and
families about an adverse world, and looking faithfully
for help to one another. If the one who has the stronger
mind, takes, as is usual in such cases, the leader’s tone, we
do not see that practically Landulph either seeks or gets
~ help that he does not give. At Déle, he. loyally pre-
pared the way before his friend, and we throughout find
him not less prompt to be helpful than be helped. So it
is pleasant to consider such a friendship formed in early
years, acquiring strength through trouble; to read letters
from the man to the man not less affectionate than those
which the youth wrote to the youth. Landulph begins his
note, just mentioned as having been sent from Lavizaro
to Casale, with the words, “ My Agrippa, who art as a
dearest brother,” and it ends, “Farewell, with your be-
loved wife.” Let us add this, too, to the incidents of life
most surely testifying to the true worth of Cornelius: he

! Ep. 8, Lib. ii. p. 728. Oratio iv. p. 2092. In Art. Brev, Lullii Com=

mentarii.—The Dedication.
2 Ep. 60, the last in the first Book.



6 CORNELIUS AGRIPPA.

maintained, through good and ill report, not only the com-
plete love of his wife, but also the unbroken attachment
of a faithful friend.

Early in the next year (1517), the unlucky philoéopher
was still labouring to find a new position by help of Mon-
ferrat, and was labouring to help, not himself only, but
several of his associates and friends. Succeeding letters in
his correspondence! represent the fate of scholars broken
in their fortunes by the war, labouring on behalf of them-
selves and of each other, looking up to Monferrat, and
expecting some. aid through Agrippa, who enjoyed the
best share of the great man’s favour. There is nothing,
in such letters, of abject beseeching. Each writes as if
mutual assistance were a duty recognised among them,
either as common members of the republic of letters, or as
equal friends.

One of these friends dates from Turin, the Duke of
‘Savoy’s capital. Landulph, who settled down eventually
as a professor at Pavia, joined the soldiers for a little while,
and wrote to his “ Dearest Henry” on the fourth of May,
from the camp at La Rochette?, a small town of Savoy,
near the banks of the Isére. By the third of August in
the same year, the position of the two friends was much
altered. Cornelius Agrippa had joined formally the Ducal
Court, and was, probably as a physician, in the pay of
Charles III. of Savoy, called the Gentle, half-brother and
successor to that Philibert whose death had left Margaret
of Austria in truth a widow. He was still, therefore, mo-

Ep. 1, 2, 8, 4, Lib. ii. pp. 722, 723. * Ep. 5, Lib. ii. p. 724.




WITH THE DUKE OF SAVOY. 7

rally within the strictest limits of his old allegiance. Lan-
dulph, on the other hand, was by that date at Lyons,
where he had revived old. friendships, found patronage,
and whence he was summoned to the court of Francis.
An Italian by birth, it would have been hard for him to
name the prince to whom he owed a natural allegiance.
He was as ready to be helped in France as he would have
been willing to take help in Germany ; and he would go
to Paris, he said to Cornelius, as his precursor. There
was peace then between France and Germany. Maxi-
milian hed, in the preceding year, made an abortive ef-
fort to avenge the capture of Milan; had brought an
army into Italy, lost time in taking little towns, and finally
retreated from before Milan itself, distrustful of the Swiss
in his own ranks. He had deserted his army and gone
home to Germany, leaving the troops to become dis-
organised, and to disband themselves at their discretion.
King Ferdinand died ; and among subsequent arrange-
ments was a pacification, of which one of the terms was
Maximilian’s abandonment of his claim to Verona., The
Venetians were left as they had been before the league of
Cambray was devised to crush and plunder them. Dur-
ing the years 1517 and 1518, there was a cessation .of
hestilities; Agrippa might, therefore, have gone to Paris.
Of his situation at the ducal court, Landulph spoke
slightingly : ¢ I do not praise it,” he said ; “ you will be
offered little pay, and get it at the day of judgment. I
have sent repeated letters to the governor of Grenoble, by

! Ep: 6, Lib. ii. p. 724, 725.



8 CORNELIUS AGRIPPA.

the hands of his own nephew, and am hoping soon to get
an answer ; after which, if you permit me, I will arrange
and settle everything. In the mean time, so manage with
the Duke of Savoy as not to close your way to richer
fortune.”

While Landulph was expecting to find for his friend an
opening at Grenoble, on the Isére (distant about a hundred
miles from Turin), Cornelius prepared to act as doctor of
medicine, lawyer, or divine, and really acting perhaps asa
physician, had been inquiring of a friend the composition
of a plaisterl. Either by physic or by law, he was, and
had been since the overthrow of his fortunes by the entry
of the French into Pavia, winning a slender income upon
which he and his family contrived to live. By labour in
either faculty, and sometimes by repaying with work of the
brain the liberality of any patron, he could earn all that
he ate’. At Cologne, it had been long settled that he was
killed in the Italian wars®. He sent home for no money ;
he made himself chargeable on no one ; and was even am-
bitious to enjoy the more completely his domestic hap-
piness, by living as a private man, no longer at the beck
of any prince. Nevertheless, his friends seek for him any-
thing that they can find. -

In three weeks Landulph wants him at Liyonst; he s still
only expecting a reply from Grenoble ; but is, personally,
on such good terms with the governor that he has no mis-
givings. He commends himself warmly to the dear wife

! Ep. 7, Lib. i. p. 725. % Qrationes, iv. pp. 2091, 2092,
1 Ep. 18, Lib. ii. p. 784, ¢ Ep. 8, Lib. ii. p. 726.



PROSPECTS AT GRENOBLE, AVIGNON, AND METZ. 9

of Cornelius, and his only son: “ I will bring you good
fortune,” he adds; “I cannot rest till I have paid you the
service I so much desire.” This design, however, led to
no results. The reverend preceptor of St. Antony’s, at
Rivolta, through the influence of a brother-in-law? resi-
. ding there, had, in the mean time, opened a new prospect
of official employment in the town of Metz; and, two
months afterwards, Landulph wrote?, ¢ Most renowned
Agrippa, your fame, I am told, has reached even to Avig-
non :” for he had to tell him of an offer from the Pope’s
legate at Avignon, to receive him into service, and allow
an ample stipend. There were some clerical friends from
Italy at Lyons, who agreed with Landulph that this open-
ing was to be preferred to that concerning which nego-
tiations were in progress with the magistrates of Metz:
“Do you, therefore, follow our advice. Having consi-
dered everything, write back to me all you desire, and I
will not be wanting, whom you shall find always a faith-
ful man and special friend. Commend me to your dear
wife and son. Lyons, October 20.”

By the sixteenth of November3, a question of settlement
in Geneva has been added to all these discussions ; and the
necessity of coming to some final decision has been made
apparent. The Duke of Savoy has made an offer of pay,
by which the poor scholar has felt humiliated. With the
pride of a gentleman, he has refused, therefore, to receive
a single ducat at the great man’s hands. A friend at

! Orationes, iv. p. 2092, 2 Ep. 9, Lib, ii. p. 726.
* Ep. 10, Lib. ii. pp. 726, 727.



10 CORNELIUS AGRIPPA.

Geneva writes to him in a consolatory strain, and “ does
not think that he did quite wisely in refusing to accept
the pay offered him by that ungrateful man, especially con-
sidering his own very straitened fortunes. It seemed to
him an absurd revenge which gave reward to the com-
mitter of a wrong, and inflicted damage upon the laborious
and deserving. It would have been more prudent, laying
aside pride, to have claimed that money, little as it -was,
which the hand of injustice at last offered.” Such. wise
friends have we all to help us keep our souls in due sub-
jection. But the concern on behalf of Agrippa and his
family was laudable, and this Geneva correspondent was
most honestly rejoiced at the chance of having as a towns-
man and a neighbour one so noble and so learned as
Agrippa. He wasready to assist Eustochius Chappuys, the
chief friend of Cornelius in the town, in looking for a
house, and making other preparations, if that able dootor
should adhere to his proposal of a settlement in his wife’s
native city.

" Probably the disrespect suffered at the hands of the
Duke of Savoy had caused Cornelius in his resentment to
regard even the slenderest tie between patron and olient
as a state of bondage. He and his little family had
already been for some time living on the insufficient- pro-
duce of his industry and talent. Instead of depending
again upon service to one man for a more ample sub-
sistence, might he not find it more consistent with the
liberty he cherished to obtain a wider field for private
practice, whether of law or’ medicine, in a community



A PROSPECT AT GENEVA. 11

that would respect his independence. His wife Louisa
may have had faith in her own town of Geneva, fancied
an opening there, and pleased herself with the idea of re-
visiting the old familiar ground after so many turmoils
and sharp trials upon foreign soil, loyally borne. Agrippa
would be influenced directly by a wish of hers, as she was
prompt to second any wish of his,

“ Where there ig a true and whole love,” the young
husband had preached, on the excuse of Plato, to the
learned men of Pisal, “there is all modesty, all justice;
there is no scorn, there is perpetual peace. The love of
peace is God; peace is by lovers venerated. Where
there is true love, there is security, there is concord, there
is happiness, and there are all things common. Against
it there is no force in danger, wiles, dissension, misery;
in strife, theft, homicide, or battle. Moreover, whatlaws
almost numberless and the whole scope of moral philoso- -
phy are striving to effect, and scarcely compass after all,
love alone, in the shortest time, secures. Love is enough
to turn you from the evil and the base, to set you on the
track of what is good and just. Without love, justice is
a cause of war, fortitude is not free from anger, prudence
from malice, temperance from impatience. Where love
is present, all the virtues are brought into concord. . . . .
Love? itself is the moderator of celestial movements and
influxes, the ruler of the elements, and the preserver of
all creatures. This is the root of life, the promoter of

VH. C. A in Prelectimem Convivii Platonis, Amoris loudem continens,
Orationes, i. Op. Tom. i. p. 1066,

* Tbid. p. 1068.



12 CORNELIUS. GRIPPA.

safety ; it extinguishes indolence, revives the perishing,
illuminates the wise, instructs the ignorant, leads back the
wanderers, soothes the angry, humbles the proud, consoles
the oppressed, helps forward the destitute. . . . . . . Let
us all love, thereforel; let us love, first, God; next to God,
let the love of a wife stand before all things. Let uslove
our country,.for which always the wisest and holiest men
have willingly and with alacrity met death itself. Let us
love the prince who is the author of justice; let us love
parents, relations, benefactors. Let us love each other, for
before all things this Christ teaches in the Gospel, saying,
This is my commandment, that ye love one another.
Let us love, all of us, the most noble female sex. . . . . .
But of the pre-eminence and nobility of woman I am un-
willing to speak largely, as I am about to issue a small
book upon this special theme.” (Some years have elapsed,
" however, and it still remains unpublished.) “The woman’s
lover labours to do well that he may please her. One man
is trained in arms by love, another trained in letters;
every one labours to act that he may be praised before the
face of her who loves him.”

In this spirit Cornelius is just now toiling up a very
steep bit of the hill of life, and very naturally, when he
seems to have the world before him, turns his eyes, for his
wife’s sake, in the direction of Geneva. A more certain
prospect of a livelihood, that promised not less indepen-
dence, being elsewhere offered, we find, on the sixteenth
of January, that Agrippa’s friend at Geneva writes in some-

! Ibid. p. 1071. -
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what ludicrous despair, because that man whose wisdom
and whose “inborn goodnessl,” and whose oratory are so
precious to him, has announced his acceptance of the post
of advocate and orator to the free town of Metz.

Metz, in the duchy of Lorraine, claimed in those days
to be free, and knew how to maintain its freedom. In as
far as it paid any allegiance at all, it paid it to the Empe-
ror of Germany, but it would have nothing to do with the
German Diets, and not long before the arrival of Cornelius,
its magistrates had sent after a citizen who had set out for
Worms to get some private litigation settled, brought him
back, and fined him for proposing to acknowledge a strange
jurisdiction. As for the Dukes of Lorraine, they were
obliged to live at peace with the town that could afford to
hold its own upon their soil?2. Some five-and-twenty
years before Agrippa went there, Réné, Duke of Lor-
raine, had declared war against it. The townspeople gave
to the Duke’s herald half a dozen florins out of their own
mint, as tokens of their independence, and waged war for
three years so stoutly, that when peace was made they had
in the town sixteen or seventeen thousand of the Duke’s
people as prisoners.

In Metz, Cornelius Agrippa found a town that was in
several main respects mot very much unlike his own
Cologne. There was in spirit, though not quite in form,

! Ep. 11, Lib. ii. p. 728.

2 Histoire Générale de Metz, par des Religieux Bénédictins de la Congre-
gation de St. Vannas. Metz, 1775. This history, in six thick quartos,
provides ample store from which I draw what little minute knowledge is
necessary to the narrative.



14 CORNELIUS AGRIPPA.

the same municipal supremacy, the same sort of social
history, the same mastery of the religious power by the
civil, and withal the same glut of monks, making intole-
rant use of what authority they had.

Before assuming his new office, Cornelius went to his
parents in Cologne. They had been told of his death
among the Swiss in Pavia; all his friends in Cologne also
believed that he had fallen. In his actual presence they
received the first assurance of his safetyl. Of their mourn-
ing for his supposed loss he had not known. Having no
pleasant news to send, he had despatched to Cologne no
messenger. In the days of his poverty he had refrained
from pressing upon the resources of his parents; but as
soon as the way of life seemed clear again, and he could
tell them good news of himself, he did not write, but
went himself to them, and turned their mourning into

Joy.
' ' Ep. 15, 18, and 19, Lib. ii.
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CHAPTER IIL

ADVOCATE AND ORATOR AT METZ.

MeTz is a very old town, standing between streams
where the Seille flows into the Moselle. It was entered
in Agrippa’stime by many bridges, one to each of the old
gates. Within the walls it was overfilled with monasteries
and churches. As you entered by St. Thibault’s gate on
the side furthest from that bordering the Moselle, you
soon came to the monastery of the Celestines, facing the
market space, which was adorned by the public gallows
and a scaffoldl. Many a barbarous execution the Celes-.
tines saw. Beyond the Celestines, other monks were pre-
dominant in every quarter. The large monastery of the
Dominicans was on the other side of the town, near the
Moselle, and not very far from the fine cathedral at which,
when Cornelius Agrippa went to Metz, the building works
were coming to an end. I mention only the religious
houses of the Celestines and Dominicans, because they

1 The pictorial plan of Metz, sketched not long after this time in Braun’s
Urbes Mundi, sRows a man hanging on the gallows as a public ornament.
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only concern us. One yielded to Cornelius a friend, and
one a foe. '

Metz was a town, the capital of a district, even in the
old days of the Gauls, and a town, as I have said, able to
assert its independence. The Romans preserved its Gallic
constitution, giving to its magistrates, elected on the an-
cient system, the name of Decurion, and the name of
Decurion having been translated into Deacon, in Agrippa’s
time the ancient form of independent government existed
- still. Its Master Deacon was its mayor, or chief magistrate.
In the thirteenth century the Bishops of Metz had endea-
voured to assert civil supremacy, but they had, as at Co-
logne, been resisted violently, and there had been a season of
internal strife, resulting finally in the complete restriction
of the Church authority to matters of religious discipline.
The town would obey none but townsmen of its own ap-
pointment, and had for its first article of customary law
that “ All are free; there is not one of servile condition.”

The town was governed by a master deacon and a
council of the other deacons, aided by a body called the
Sworn Thirteenl. Soon after Agrippa’s time there existed
a parliament formed of a body of ecclesiastics, nobles, and
deputies of the commons, called “People of the Three
Estates of the city.” When it met it was not the bishop
but the master deacon who convoked it, and the master
deacon who presided over its discussions.

! The constitution of the government of the town is fully detailed in the
Histoire Générale de Metz, par des Religieux Bénédictins. Tom. ii. pp.
818-393,

.
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The Master Deacon was elected annually by six persons,
namely, those who happened to be masters of the cathe-
dral and five specified abbeys. In order to maintain the
dignity of the town, it was incumbent upon its chief
magistrate to obtain a knighthood before Whitsuntide,
during his year of office. It was his function to treat with
the council of twelve ordinary deacons, and with the
Thirteen ; he was to provide for vacant offices and so
forth. The twelve other deacons were all chosen on the
nomination of the master deacon until the year 1600, and
the Deacons, with their Master, formed a sovereign court of
appeal from the sentences of the Sworn Thirteen, in civil
matters, ’

The Thirteen were said to be sworn because, having
tried offences, they made report on oath concerning the
offenders, and, when they did so, were believed against all
contradiction, their sentences of fine or other punishment
being considered final. In doubtful cases, however, they
reported their opinion only, not confirming it by oath, and
it was then liable to be outweighed by sworn testimony
on the part of witnesses for the accused. The Thirteen
were changed by a general election once in eight years,
conducted upon a peculiar system, which, however, ex-
cluded no citizen from participation in the suffrage. Such
details of municipal government as now fall commonly to
the lot of a town council were attended to by the Thir-
teen; and as the municipal government was also im-
perial, they might be said also to resemble ministers
in various departments of the state. Three formed a

VOL. I C
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committee in charge of the gates; three others were the
ministry of war; one took the oversight of hospitals;
another was lord of the treasury; one presided over the
cleansing of the highways, and so forth. Then again six
of them formed also a court of arbitration for the hearing of
incipient causes, and the amicable settlement of matters in
dispute. The Thirteen assembled in chamber every Tues-
day and Wednesday in the morning, all the year through,
meeting at seven in the morning between Easter and the
first of October, and at eight between the first of October
and Easter, liable to fines against each member who was
late or absent.

It was by the Master Deacon that Cornelius Agrippa
was invited to accept the post of Town Advocate and Orator
at Metz!; having accepted that office, he became subject
to the order of the Council of Deacons and the Thirteen,
but of no one else. He became also a citizen, and free
among the free.

But if Agrippa served only the civil government, his
way of life and thought concerned the ecclesiastical. We
must needs know also how that was constituted.

In the year 1484, successor to a bishop who was good and
zealous, and worked holy miracles, Henry II. of Lorraine
became bishop of Metz. He lived and died at a country
seat in Champagne, belonging to his brother Duke Réné,
and all that he did for his see was to govern it in the in-
terests of the house of Lorraine. This state of things led
to intrusions on the part of Réné, which the citizens of

! Dratio iv. p. 2092.
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Metz put down by force of arms; it was then—eight-and-
twenty years before Agrippa went to live among them—
that they made the Duke’s herald a present of some floring
out of their own mint. Not very long after the war ended,
in 1494, Henry of Lorraine proposed the appointment of
a coadjutor in his bishopric, and he thought at that time
of an able man, Raymond, cardinal of St. Agatha, legate
in Tréves. His brother Réné approved of the choice, but
when afterwards a second son was born to himself he
changed his mind, and thought it well that if one son
inherited the dukedom, the other should possess the
wealthy bishopric of Metz. Therefore, although much
had been formally done to assure the coadjutorship of
Raymond, on the third of November, 1500, the chapter of
Metz agreed to accept a sucking bishop in the person of
the Duke’s infant, Jean de Lorraine, though he was then
little more than two years old, and in those days it was com-
mon not so much as to wean a child before the age of three.
The Pope limited Jean’s privileges by a bull. He was not
. to enter actively upon the administration of affairs until he
reached the age of twenty, and he was to take full episco-
pal rank at the age of twenty-seven. While Bishop Henry
lived he was to do the necessary work; and if he died
during the minority of his coadjutor, the episcopal ad-
ministration was to pass into the hands of the chapter.
The chapter, governing for the bishop, was to divide the
revenue into three parts, of which one only was to be the
portion of Prince Jean. Now Bishop Henry of Lorraine
died in 1505, when the coadjutor was but seven and a
c2
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half years old. The chapter, therefore, occupied the
bishop’s palace, and managed the ecclesiastical affairs of
Metz up to the time'of Cornelius Agrippa’s first arrival in
the city.

The chapter had been working very hard at the cathe-
dral. In the last years of Bishop Henry’s life, after a
year of plague (and plague-years in Metz were frequent),
labour upon it had been actively resumed. The ancient
choir and chapel of St. Nicholas had been pulled down,
and to expedite the recomstruction, Henry, not many
months before his death, had granted remission of all sins
by excess, rapine, and usury, to those who gave subscrip-
tions to the building-fund. After the bishop’s death,
when a large part of the ecclesiastical revenues became,
for a series of years, available for pious works, one of the
two thirds of his income withheld from the bishop was
devoted annually to the payment of costs on account of
the cathedral, which was finished very soon. At the time
when Cornelius first went to Metz, the young Bishop
Jean had just arrived at his majority, and the last touches
were being put to the cathedral, which, however, was not
open for public worship until 1522. The chapter had
also established a strict rule in matters of religion, even to
the appointment of a cruel Dominican as Chief Inquisitor,
though there had by no means been at all times inquisitors
in Metz,—nor had there been at all times public orators.
It so happened, however, that not very long before the civil
power gave to a fit man, Cornelius Agrippa, the post of
town advocate and orator, the ecclesiastical power had
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entrusted to a fit man, Nicolas Savin, the office of inqui«
sitor!. No place was made so intolerable as Metz to the
Jews, and how heresies of the Christians fared there, we
ere long shall see.

Bidding farewell then once more to his parents at Co-
logne, one of them never to be seen again in this world, Cor-
nelius, in the year 1518, his age being thirty-two, travelled
to Metz with wife and son, and having arrived there,
founded what he hoped might prove a quiet and a settled
home. As soon as possible after his coming he presented
himself before the assembled magistrates to report his
arrival, thank them for the honour they had paid him,
and submit himself to their commands. His speech® was
brief, the first half an eulogium of the free town of Metz,
the last an explanation of his own position. He should
not waste their time with ornamented sentences. His
presence was a witness of his honesty, and if they needed
more assurances, his birthplace was not obscure, his race
was not ignoble, his family none to be ashamed of, his
home not sordid; no man had blamed his morals, and his
life was free from crime, his reputation was without spot
among the justest men, and he had aforetime not been
held unworthy to receive words of confidence and thanks
from the Supreme Pope, the Emperor, and many prelates
and religious men, who called him son and friend, who
had received him at their tables, who had honoured him

1 Histoire de Metz, Tom. ii. p. 720. Corn. Agr. Ep. 59, Lib. ii. p. 776.
3 H. C. A. ad Metensium Dominos, dum in sllorum advocatum, syndicum et
oratorem acceptaretur. Op. Tom. ii. pp. 1090-1092.
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in private and in public letters, and whose witness to his
praise was dearer to his heart than money, of which he
never was an eager seeker, or an avaricious owner. But
after he had taken a wife, he went on to tell them, he
had proposed to abstain from a familiarity with princes
who were above his humble state, and in the seeking
of whose friendship there was more ambition than tran-
quillity, and thereafter, he adds, “I lived by my own
industry, and remaining content with my lot, and with
but narrow means, I bore with an unbroken mind various
twists of fortune, burdensome on no man. But after your
highness” (he speaks to the master deacon as chief of the
council) ¢ had by sundry letters, and at last by the send-
ing of your secretary, required me for your Orator, and the
Lord Preceptor of Rivolta himself, and his brother the
Preceptor at Metz, together with the great baron their
father, to all of whom I owe much, had urged my consent
with many prayers, I thought it amiss to refuse the prayers
of so many men to whom I was indebted, and to contemn
your favour. .Therefore, neglecting all other prospects,
and the great titles, of which some were at that time
offered me in Piedmont and Savoy, with fixed delibera-
tion I have devoted myself to you, trusting that I shall
so manage as not wholly to destroy the most excellent
opinion of me you now hold. But that I may not weary
you by a too long discourse, and occupy the time proper
for business of more moment, nothing remains except that
with all possible respect, devotion, and religious earnest-
ness, I promise and give you my assurance that I will fail
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you in no matter, whether of counsel, fidelity, or secreey,
or in the other debts and duties of this office, whatever
chance may hap. Iwill do now, therefore, what I ought:
accept what is your due. You have me here whom you
have for some time sought. I take the title of your Ad-
vocate and Orator. I acknowledge you to be my certain
and indubitable lords, I pay to you all reverence, obe-
dience, and faithful duty that an orator, admitted to par-
ticipation in the counsels of your republic is expected to
pay, and whatever course you instruct me to take on the
republic’s behalf, I will with all pains pursue, examine,
labour in, affect, and perfect, nor will I ever be wanting
in faith, industry, or diligence. Behold I am in your
hands, knowledge, mind, and body. I have said these
things briefly, trusting that your prudence will perceive
much within the little, and entreat your pardon if I have
spoken thus extemporaneously not in a way suited to your
worth, but to my weakness and the worth of time.”

‘We know enough, by this time, of Cornelius, to be as-
sured that in his promise of fidelity and diligence, he
spoke with a true heart to the Deacons of Metz and the
Thirteen, and that after having thus plighted his faith he
returned to his wife in their new home, determined to do
all that an honest man could do for the assurance of pro-
sperity and peace to the small household of which he was
the head. Metz had its social troubles. It was at that
time besieged by banditti under a Captain Francisco, who
made all the approaches insecure, ravaged outlying fields
and villages, and proved themselves a plague so fierce
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and so indomitable, that the town was obliged to buy
them off™,

Of the kind of work done by Cornelius Agrippa for the
town of Metz, we have a trace in these orations that sur-
vive, clear, brief, and closely keeping to the point in hand.
One is a speech before the neighbouring Senate of Luxem-
bourg?, upon the subject of some new claims made against
the citizens of Metz by the farmers of the Luxembourg
tolls. The Senate of Luxembourg had, in consequence
of repeated representations by the aggrieved parties, given
counsel or command at various times to their farmers of
tolls which those persons resisted, and asserting the le-
gality of their proceedings, they had opposed an action
brought against them by the deacons of Metz in the
courts of their own town. The suit had been more than
a year in existence, and was undecided still, when Cor-
nelius Agrippa was sent to apologise to the Senate of Lux-
embourg for troubling them so often on the matter, and
to tell that body with all courtesy and high consideration,
that it would do well to expedite the movements of its
court of law, and bring the question of tolls to a settle-
ment, because, although the town of Metz had abstained
carefully from any retaliation, if the unusual demands
made against citizens of Metz were much longer persisted
in, Metz would begin to act in a corresponding spirit
of exaction towards citizens of Luxembourg. The other

1 Histoire Générale de Metz, par des Religicux Bénédictins.
3 H, C. A. Oratio ad Senatum Lucenburgiorum pro Dominis suis Metensibus
habita. Op. Tom. ii. pp. 1092-1094.
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two orations are the formal greetings which the town
then offered, accompanying them with some substantial
gift, to every visitor of note who came withimeits gates.
One of these speeches is to a prince bishop?, and the other,
to some great lord®; both are of commendable brevity,
Cornelius explaining in one of them that many words
belong rather to an insincere greeting, than an honest, in-
dependent welcome; that many words are only good.- to
cause more weariness to travellers, or worry to the man
of business. His compliments, it may be said, are not the
less well turned, as they must assuredly have been the
pleasanter, for being brief.

During the first quiet months of residence at Metz,
Agrippa found amusement in the writing of an uncer-
tain opinion on a disputable problem in-Theology—the
nature of Original Sin3. In the treatise on Man written
for Monferrat before that on the Triple Way of Knowing
God, he had argued that the race of man in a state of
innocence would have been maintained by immaculate
conception®. The whole theory is worked out in the essay
on Original Sin, of which he suggests, by many curious
and most ingenious arguments, his opinion that it came by
the fall, in this respect, from the quickening of the spirit

1 Oratio in salutatione cupusdam Principis et Episcopi, pro Metensibus
scripta, p. 1094. :

2 Oratio in salutatione cujusdam magnifici viri, pro Dominis Metensibus
scripta, p. 1095.

3 Henrici Cornelii Agrippe de Originali Peceato, disputabilis Opinionis
Declamatio. Opuscula (ed. 15682, Mense Maio—no pagination), fol. sig.

H vii.-I vil.
¢ Tbid. od fin.
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to the quickening of the flesh. “It is opinion,” he says,
“not belief, not knowledge; so that if my opinion be
wrong, I am not parted by it from true belief and uncon-
taminated Christian wisdom. Upon such conditions I
may express opinion freely, and if (as I am a man of im-
mature age, and of small wit or learning) I do not justify
the sense I give by as many witnesses of Secripture as the
thing requires, some doctors may follow, not displeased
with this opinion of mine, and able to give vigour to it
with more valid reasoning.” A copy of his “short and
compendious declamation” Agrippa sends to the old friend
of his family, Theodoric, Bishop of Cyrene!, who replies
from Bedbar? that he is glad to find his Cornelius alive,
contrary to the reports current for some years in Cologne,
glad that he has a good wife and children who may
inherit his own virtue and learning, glad that he has suc-
ceeded in escaping to so large an extent from subjection
to secular duties, and won time to devote to sacred letters.
As for the question of Original Sin, it is an old puzzle.
He will only say that all have been agreed that it cannot
exist were there is no rational soul. “But enough,” he
adds, “of this. I wish we could be together who are now
parted by distance, and the fierce raging of perils (I speak
of epidemics) in which I wonder vehemently that you
offer,—as you write,—yourself, your wife, and your whole
family, to the help of your neighbours. You will reply,
perhaps, that you are not timid about this disease, and
perhaps some Apollo guards you with a special antidote,

1 Ep. 17, Lib. ii. p. 784. * Ep. 18, Lib. ii. pp. 784, 785.
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or preservative. If you have any such thing, I beg you
not to hide it from your friend: or if any one has told
you of a prescription against plague, discovered by any
thinker, send it written to the physician in my house, that
it may reach my hands, so you will bind the tie of love
between us with a tenfold strength.” The bishop ends
. with a pleasant doubt lest a correspondent whom he knows

to be so pure in thought should find corruption in his
letter, and begs that, if so, it may be covered by his age,
his fatherly relation to his friend, and his capacity of
bishop. This letter was addressed to the noble and strenu-
ous Knight, Doctor of each Faculty and of Medicine,
Henry Cornelius Agrippa, Chief Counsel to the Senate of
“the town of Metz, his most beloved son in Christ, by the
reverend Father in Christ, and Doctor in sacred Theology,
Theodoric, Bishop of Cyrene; Rural Dean at Cologne,
and elected President of the Chapterl.

Cornelius, when he replied to this letter, sent with his
reply, for the use of his venerable friend, a paper of in-
structions, detailing both the preventives and the remedies
against the plague, which he had compiled for his own
use, and that of others, from the best authorities. There
can be little doubt that his exposure of himself and family
to the infection for the benefit of his neighbours at Metz
arose out of the skill as a physician which it became him
in the time of need to exercise. He told Theodoric that
the best remedy was flight, and a return, not too speedy,

! See letters prefixed to. the paper Coséra Pestem, Opuscula (od. May,
1582), sig. fol. I vii. K.
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after the cessation of the pestilence. For himself to leave
Metz was impossible, and as for the Securest Antidotes
against the Plague, he forwarded an account of them in a
little medical paper, so headed, which is to be found
among his published works?.

First, as to general regimen in time of pestilence, his
rules are to avoid as much as possible heat and heating
things, external or internal; to avoid violent exercises,
violent passions; to avoid eating or drinking to repletion,
but to avoid also hunger and thirst; not to sleep too much,
especially by day. With food, and especially with fresh
fish, such condiments as tormentilla, gentian, sandal-wood,
and roses should be taken; also vinegar should be used,
especially vinegar of roses; and citron, orange, or lemon-
Jjuice, sorrel-juice, and all vegetable things of that kind
which resist the poison of the plague. They may be tem-
pered with sugar, if too sharp taken alone. Pepper may
be eaten, coarsely pounded, and it is good also to take
such herbs as onion and chicory. The place of residence
and clothes should be purified with a blazing fire, of say
Jjuniper or pine-wood ; they should also be sprinkled with
rose-water and vinegar; sweet herbs and flowers should

.also be scattered about, and used in fumigation. With
rose-water and vinegar, also, it is well to wash often during
the day both face and hands. 'When walking abroad, have

! Opuscula (I give this title to the collection of small works beginning
with the De Nob. et Pracell. Fem. Sex. and all named on the title-page of the
first edition of them published at Cologne, in May, 1532), fol. K iii.-K vi.
Henrici Cornelis Agrippe contra Pestem Antidota secursssima.



HOW TO TREAT THE PLAGUE. 29

a little ditany root or aromatic confection in the mouth,
and a sweet apple in the hand at which to smell. It is
best, also, before leaving home, to burn rue, beaten in
vinegar, upon hot iron plates, and inhale the vapour, as
well as allow it to pass over the whole body and clothes.
This is the household regimen which, in" seasons of pesti-
lence, Cornelius Agrippa enforced in his own family, and
used his influence to recommend.

Of preservative antidotes, the best, in his opinion, and
those which he himself used, were a draught in the morn-
ing, and at times during the day, chiefly composed of
vinegar of roses and white wine, or old malvoisie, with
citron-peel, bole armenian, and zodoary-root infused, and
a little saffron added, with perhaps some sugar and con-
serve of roses. There wasa pill in common use, and called
a Pestilence Pill, which Agrippa would have to be taken
digested in honey-water. A medicine not less sublime is
this: Take of treacle two ounces, myrrh three drachms,
camphor two drachms, over which pour a pint of rose-
water. In two or three days distil in well-sealed glass
vessels, and take some of the distilled water every morn-
ing. The ancients prescribed also an electuary of walnuts,
rue, and salt, with other things, and there is an egg elec-
tuary made of saffron roasted within a blown egg-shell,
and pounded afterwards with mustard. Many subsequent
additions to the egg electuary were made, and are de-
scribed to Theodoric. When used as a medicine, it must
be given within the first twelve hours of the disease. By
way of precaution, Pestilence Pills should be taken once or
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twice a week, the aloes and myrrh in them being omitted,
and a little camphor substituted in hot weather; but in
cold weather they are to be taken as usual. There are
other directions given for varying, according to season and
constitution, their aperient quality.

Whoever feels himself to be smitten with the plague, if
age and strength permit, should promptly be bled. Then
also within the first six hours, and while help and advice is
being sought, let there be prepared for him as a remedy six
white onions, with their hearts scooped out, and filled with
old treacle, in which has been put powder of ditany and
tormentilla-root ; cook them wrapped in moist paper under
ashes, and, when cooked to softness, use a part pounded as
poultice to the sores; nothing is so able to draw out the
poison: mix the rest with an ounce of citron-juice and a
little vinegar, squeeze and strain. Let the sick person
have three ounces of the expressed juice, cover him up
warmly in bed, and let him remain to perspire for six
hours without food and drink. There may advantageously
be mixed with such a dose a little of the egg electuary.
A patient unable to bear bleeding should be purged ac-
cording to his strength. But of all remedies, the best is
Adam’s earth, or the first matter of creation, whereof
Agrippa promises elsewhere to speak.

Such was considered the best treatment of plague in
days when plague was rife, and such was the advice sent
by his friend at Metz during a plague year to the Bishop
of Cyrene. At the same time (1518), a correspondence
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arose between Cornelius and a young lawyer at Baslel,
who had heard of his rare powers, and wrote to him for
counsel. He gave the counsel that he had himself ob-
tained from Abbot John of Trittenheim, to embrace the
widest field of study, and to pay especial heed to the
divine writings. “He who studies law,” said Agrippa,
% will build up his neighbour in the state, and he who
studies sacred letters will build up himself in God.” He
repeated the proverb he had himself received from Trithe-
mius, about the heavy footfall of the wearied ox, and im-
proved to his own use a pleasant interchange of letters, by
requesting his new friend to make inquiry about the Com-
mentaries on Paul to the Romans, and the other papers
said to have been saved in battle for him by one of the
pupils he had taught at Pavia, Christopher Schilling, of
Lucerne. Recurring to this time, he expresses his old
admiration of the polished life of the Italians, who were
acknowledged chiefs of civilisation. I exhort you, when
you have seen Germany and France, and all the rabble of
our barbarians, to go at last to Italy, which, if any one re-
gards with open eyes, he will see that any other fatherland
is base and vile compared with it. But all this, and what
else I have above written, take in good part.” All his
Italian misfortunes have not changed his taste; still he
feels that he should have thought no business in life so
welcome as that of a professorship at Pavia. As for Schil-
ling, he is at Tubingen now, studying under Reuchlin;

! Ep. 12-16, Lib. ii. pp. 728-784.
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and Agripps, reading Reuchlin’s book on Accents, meets
with Schilling’s name, and is rejoiced that so worthy a
disciple has found a preceptor of an excellence so rare.

A sudden journey from Metz to Cologne interrupts the
course of the town advocate’s every-day life'l. He has
not long returned before a despatch from Theodoric en-
closes for him a letter from his mother, to inform him of
his father’s death?. His father’s illness was most likely
the occasion of his journey. Either there was a limit to
his leave of absence, or there was sufficient hope of the
sick man’s recovery; Cornelius did not remain to see his
father die. “I grieve,” he says, “most vehemently, and
find but a single solace for this grief, that we must yield
to the divine ordinance; for I know that God bestows
upon men gifts, not indeed always pleasant, very often
even of adversity, yet always useful to assist us here, orin
the heavenly fatherland. For God acts in accordance
with His own nature, His own essence, which is wholly
goodness; therefore He ordains nothing but what is good
and salutary. Nevertheless, such is my human nature,
that 1 vehemently grieve, and the depths are stirred
within me.”

They are his first tears for the dead. He is thirty-two
years old, and has seen many troubles, but this trouble
never until now, in a year of pestilence. He writes to
the Bishop Theodoric as to a loving father, whose kind

! Ep. 15 and 16, Lib. ii. p. 733.
2 Ep. 19, Lib. ii. p. 786, in which the letters are referred to, but they are
not themselves published.
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words temper his grief. 'What words, in the honest mo-
ther tongue, Agrippa’s mother wrote to her pure-hearted
son, how he replied to her, these were the secrets of his
inmost life, and they form no part of the revelations of
the scholar.

In another part of the long letter to Theodoric, in which
he pours out many thoughts of his heart to a venerable
and well-trusted friend, Cornelius speaks of his new and
more complete devotion to a study of Theology. He had
aforetime especially delighted in researches into nature,
which Theodoric seems to have stigmatised as seductive
and diabolical; taught by the Speculum of Albertus
Magnus, he had made instruments and had experimented
upon nature, at much cost to himself, and with no gain
but the discredit of his sin. But after he had taken in
the usual way the cap and rings, as Doctor of each Faculty
and of Medicine (to satisfy the wish of his own family,
who thought more of the cap than of the brains'), he had
devoted himself, though late in life, wholly to the pursuit
of sacred letters. In so doing, he was no doubt, by the
energy of youth, likely to be led astray into erroneous
theories, and he desired nothing better than that the good
and wise Theodoric should be his censor and adviser, who
would show him when he erred, fulfilling in that way a
bishop’s office, and so keep him safe within the Church’s
fold. At the close of this letter, though he has not been a
year at Metz, Agrippa looks forward with some longing to a
possible time when, in the home of his forefathers, he may

! Ep. 19, Lib. ii. p. 787~ qui me doctorem malunt quam doctum.”
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pursue, Theodoric for helper, the studies that are worthiest ;
and he commends himself affectionately to a liberal and
learned friend, of whom we shall hear more hereafver,
Hermann Count of Neuwied.

This Hermann was the son of William II. of Neuwied
and Walburgis Manderscheid. He was a canon of Co-
logne, and afterwards in higher dignity, had charge of the
cathedral, was in a later year archdeacon, and at last
chancellor of the University. Hermann V. of Wied, whose
gister was this Hermann’s sister-in-law, had become, only in
1517, Archbishop of Cologne. The Hermann to whom
Agrippa sent affectionate remembrance was a priest but
twenty-seven years of age, a scholar, an author, and a
little prince. He was a man sought by all the learned
in his neighbourhood, who kept an open house and table
to all poets, historians, critics, and sophistsl. Cornelius,
when at Cologne, enjoyed his hospitality and won his
friendship ; to him, therefore, he sends affectionate remem-
brance. It may be said here that this Hermann died at the
early age of thirty-nine, having written eleven books of
poetry, history, and medicine.

There was nobody at Metz with poets’ tastes and a true
love for the society of learned men to exercise a splendid
hospitality. With a physician and counsellor of the town,
who wrote afterwards part of a treatise “ Upon English
Sweat,” John of Niederbriick—Nidepontanus®*—and with

! Bibliotheca Coloniensis, Hartzheim (4to, Colon. 1747), p. 187.
2 See dedication to Def. Prop. de Monog. B. Anne.
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a pious Celestine friar, Claudius Deodatus?, with a few
more also like these, there were friendships formed ; but
otherwise outside the walls of his own home Cornelius
looked vainly for sympathy among his fellow-citizens.
Ere long, indeed, he was engaged in battle with a power-
ful and bitter enemy among them. War was declared
between Cornelius Agrippa, Public: Orator and Advocate
of Metz, and Nicolas Savin, the Chief Inquisitor.

! Ep. 20-25, 27-31, Lib. ii.
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CHAPTER III.

RELATES A GREAT DISPUTE WITH THE DOMINICANS OF METZ: TELLS ALSO
_HOW AGRIPPA SAVED A VILLAGE GIRL ACCUSED OF WITCHCRAFT FROM
THE CLUTCHES OF THE CHIEF INQUISITOR, AND LOST HIS OFFICE OF TOWX
ADVOCATE AND ORATOR.

DiINING sometimes, in the year 1519, with his friend
Father Claudius Deodatus at the religious house of the
Celestines in the market-place, Cornelius Agrippa used .
to discourse much at table on the state of man before the
fall, the fall of the angels, and other matters!. Except
Father Claudius and the prior and one studious youth,
aone of the monks diverted their attention from their
~dinners to take more heed of the earnest scholar than to
note that he often spoke with respect of theological in-
-quirers who were not considered to be sound by the
.stationary party in the Church®. They were critical
times in which Cornelius Agrippa had devoted himself to
“the study of Theology. Luther’s stand against corruption
‘was then in the first years of its strength, and many
wvriters who abided by the Church were labouring to clear

4 Ep. 20, 21, Lib, ii. p. 740. 2 The same; also Ep. 24, p. 742.
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it of its grosser errors. Cornelius was of one mind with
these. He had as yet read nothing of Luther’s; no writing
of his had found its way to the strict town of Metz; but
what the spiritual scholar heard about the undaunted Re-
former pleased him, and he was not afraid to say so
openly, and to speak with contempt of the priests known as
Luther’s foremost enemies. Cornelius had read also and
enjoyed all that he had met with of the writings of
Erasmus. He quoted Erasmus freely, and was also just
at this time seized with admiration of a venerable and
gentle theologian whose reforming tendencies had made
him hateful to his brethren of the Sorbonne, Jacques
Faber d’Etaples, better known as Faber Stapulensis.
Now Cornelius Agrippa, whatever dignity he had re-
ceived at Déle, never became, in the eye of the world, a
scholastic theologian, He was a layman and a husband.
At Metz he was an advocate and a physician. Father
Claudius was half won to love him, because he had con-
sulted the wise doctor, who helped souls and bodies equally,
upon his‘own physical infirmities. Claudius was troubled
with delusions of the sense and great failing of memory,
from which infirmities he was, to a very great extent,
released by following the counsels of Agrippa. Such being
the public life of the Town Orator and Advocate, his de-
votion of himself in particular to the study of Theology
was in itself a matter of suspicion. Itimplied a dangerous
+ tendency to the use of independent judgment. He spoke
- with honour, when at dinner with the monks, about sus~

! Def. Prop. de Monog. B. Anne, ad fin.
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pected men,—maintgining the opinions by which they
had been brought into suspicion. Matters appeared worse
in the eyes of the Celestines when the friendship between
Claudius and Cornelius strengthened, and it was a common
thing for Claudius to spend hours in Agrippa’s house, his
guest and his disciple. It was to be feared that they
were studying heresies together; and after Father
Claudius had paid one day his usual visit, taking the
youth with him who had listened to Agrippa’s talk with
earnest eyes, they forbade repetition of his visits, Cornelius
wrote to inquire the cause of his unwonted absence, fear-
ing that he had been affected by the malicious scandal of
those who had so loudly murmured against their frequent
intercourse together. Father Claudius returned a kind
reply, enclosing in his parcel certain works of Erasmus
and of Faber Stapulensis that Cornelius had lent him.
“These teachers,” he saidl, “together with yourself, I
have resolved to accept and follow, for I see them to be
walking in the sincere truth of Sacred Writ. Your
conclusions I have copied with my own hand ‘in stolen
hours (for I am too much occupied, and get almost no
leisure), nor have I ventured to depute this task to any-
body, because our brothers are loutish and idiotic, per-
secuting enviously all who love good literature. They
decry not a little Master Jacques Faber, also you and me;
8o that some of them have attacked me with no trifling
insults. Therefore I have thought best to hide your
conclusions, lest their hatred become wilder. Only the

! Ep. 24, Lib. ii. p. 742.
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father prior and that youth who was with me when last
at your house, congratulate you in the matter. The
madness of the other ignorant men condemns unread, even
unseen, that book of Master Faber, and all those who
believe in it or follow it. There is another reason why
many who are harsh and unlettered rise up against you,
because you have been sharply and firmly defending a
woman accused of heresy and witcheraft, and have taken
this prey away from the Inquisitor. But be you constant
still in the defence of what is true, and of strong heart
against the insane hate of the unlearned, that the truth
may shine.”

Here are two battles, both of them perilous, fought at
one time, and in each case the man with whom our brave
Agrippa grapples is a dangerous Dominican. In one
case the antagonist is Claudius Salini!, prior of their mo-
nastery at Metz; in the other case, it is Nicolas Savin?,
their master, a bloodthirsty man, who wields the powers
of the Inquisition as a scourge of heretics. Bitter expe-
rience has changed Agrippa’s tone in dealing with this
sort of men. He thunders human wrath against them
now; they are to him as Pharisees.

The battle first commenced was that over the book of
Faber d’Etaples upon Three and One, in deprecation
and refutation of the common legend about St. Anne,
the mother of the Virgin Mary, which declared her to
have had three husbands in succession, and by each hus-
band a daughter, and each daughter a Mary. This legend

! Ep. 25, Lib, ii. p. 743. 2 Ep. 40, Lib. ii. p. 755.
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Faber declared to be founded upon no proper authority,
and to be one of the corruptions that had in course of
time been suffered to obscure the true beauty and purity
of the lives of the Saints. Agrippa thought the legend
an exceedingly unclean one, and adopted gladly Fabers
reasoning upon itl. ,

The venerable Jacques Faber, born at Etaples, in
Picardy, was a man of the gentlest disposition, and at
that time eighty-three years old. He was very small in
stature, but endowed with a great wit. When in early
life he commenced studying in Paris, the example of his -
industry, together with his kindliness, caused more than a
slight improvement in the habits of the other scholars;
after studying successfully Philosophy and Mathematics,
he had devoted himself to Theology, and became a doctor
of the Sorbonne, but very soon fell into disfavour with the
Sorbonne for his free ecriticism of the theological writings
issued under its authority. In the year 1519 he was
known to be watching with a favourable interest the.
efforts made by Luther. The character of his life cannot
be better expressed than by a glance forward toward its
end. OIld as he was, he survived by two years the young
Cornelius Agrippa. For his well-speaking of Luther he
was ejected from Paris, ‘and formally deprived of his
doctorate by the Sorbonne. He found shelter at Nerac,
and lived a quiet life, cherishing privately his own
opinions. At the age of a hundred he went to Strasburg
to talk with Bucer on religion, and he is said to have died

1 H. C. A. De B. Anne Monog. Propositiones.
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at the age of one hundred and one, in the manner follow-
ing: When dining one day at the table of his friend and
protectress, Margaret of Navarre, it was observed that he
was weeping. He was asked the reason of his tears, and
replied that he was afraid to meet God at the judgment-
seat, because of his faint advocacy of the Gospel. He had
lived at ease instead of bearing witness to the persecuted
truth. Then he asked that, except his books, whatever
he possessed should, when he was dead, be given to the
poor, and presently retired. He went unnoticed to his
chamber, and to bed. There, turning hig face to the wall,
God only being near, he yielded up his spirit. Against
this good man now no Christian will be disposed to echo
his last words of self-reproach. Faber d’Etaples bore such
witness as became his nature. He was averse from strife.
Enough for him that he did not flinch from following the
light he saw; that when tried, he was found true to his
convictions. Actively to assert them against error scarcely
was in his nature as a young man, and was hardly to be
asked of him in his old age, for it was in his old age only
that there came for Europe the necessity of a religious
struggle. Moreover, his books were not inoperative.
Here, for example, we find that, through them, he has
helped a worthy student, and has won the reverence of
the pure-hearted Agrippa.

Upon the subject of the monogamy of Anne, the mother
of the Virgin, Cornelius was led to dispute chiefly by the
violence of those who maintained an opposite opinion.
He had been expressing Faber's views upon the subject
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to one of the Deacons of the town, Nicolas Roscius, in the
ocourse of private conversation!. Roscius maintained the
popular opinion, and the two friendly controversialists
agreed to submit their argument to umpires. At about
the same time Agrippa’s business carried him for a few
days away from Metz; he may have been sent on a
mission by his chiefs, or have gone to Cologne to assist
at the family arrangements consequent upon his father’s
death. When he returned, he found that at least three
priests had constituted themselves umpires in the discus-
sion between the, Town Advocate and Deacon Roscius,
that they had denounced their fellow-townsman violently
from their pulpits, and had attacked also the venerable
and most gentle Faber with a fierce invective. First there
was® a brother of the convent of St. Francis of Observ-
ance, named Dominic Delphinus, second to none in viru-
lence and insolence of speech, who had reviled the modest
Faber Stapulensis as a fool, an insane blockhead, without
faith and ignorant of sacred letters, and had spoken of his
books as reprobated and condemned, erroneous in doc-
trine, hostile to faith and the Church, writings to be read
at peril of the soul, and proper only for the flames. Ni-
colas Orici, of the convent of the Minorite Friars or Cor-
deliers, was almost as vehement; but the most prominent
denouncer was Claudius Salini, prior of the Dominicans,

! H. C. A. De Beatissime Anmae Monogamia ac unico Puerperio, proposi-
tiones abbreviate et articulate, juxta disceptationem Jacobi Fabri Stapulensis
in libro de Tribus e¢¢ Una. Op. Tom. ii. p. 588.

2 Ep. 25, Lib. ii. p. 748, for the following.
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who had lately been invested with the doctorate at Paris,
Few dared, few cared to resist the authority of these re-
verend fathers; thus it was then that when Cornelius
returned to Metz he found himself regarded almost as a
public criminal. He wished, he said, he could have been
upon the spot to rebuke these arrogant men to their faces.
As it was, however, he did what he could; that is to say,
he drew up and promulgated a set of propositions!, flatly
contradicting all that had been said and done, and to
these he invited answer, promising a full reply upon the
argument against him.

There is no gentle spirit of expostulatlon here: it is all
hot denunciation with a quickened pulse and a flushed
cheek. These monks appear now to Agrippa the rude
clog upon all progress and the soil upon all purity. They
darken heaven for him with their sensual legends, and
they preach a gospel of foul passions. He glows with a
Jjust anger against the wrong done to a virtuous old man,
whose worst fault is his love of peace; he resents, also,
_ what seems to him the lewdness put into the story of a
saint whom in that time many pious scholars honoured
for her purity, and in whose honour his old friend Trithe-
mius, among others, had written a special book?; nor was
the private grief the least that stung him to a passionate
" retaliation ; he had been a second time made by this
class of men the object of denunciation in the house of
God.

.1 Their title is cited in the last note but one; they are on pages 588-693.
* De Laudibus Sanctissima Mairis Anna, Moguntlm, 1494.
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I do not mean by this class of men the monks, but a cer-
tain section of the monks. Everywhere in the monasteries
there were pious people, and there were many learned,
a few wise. If Agrippa found his enemies among the
monks, out of the same community he chose also the
greater number of his friends. His views upon monastic
life were not contemptuous; he honoured it above all
others, in ideal, and for that reason was the more incensed
at those by whom it was dishonoured. His opinions upon
this subject are fully stated in a declamation written by
him for an abbot! who was to address his brotherhood.
They are summed up in a contrast between an active and
a contemplative life, typified respectively by Martha and
Mary, Martha troubled about many things, but Mary
chooser of that better part. The true monk’s life Corne-
lius regarded as a life of spiritual aspiration. His whole
training as a scholar led him to admire and reverence it;
but the true monk, according to his theory, was bound to
make it his whole business to become like-minded with
his heavenly Master, and there would be no true monk,
he said, who was not poor, and chaste, and humble. Men
who fed daily on rich meat, were lewd and arrogant, who
preached a gospel not of peace and mercy, scemed to him,
therefore, only the more hateful for the profession they
had made, as brethren vowed especially to Christ. How
widely the monastic system was corrupted in the days of
Luther I need not describe; it was not the system, it was

! H. C. A. Sermo de Vita Monastica, per venerabilem Abbatem in Brouusller
habitus. Opuscula (ed. 1583), sig. fol. K vii.-L v,
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only the corruption in it, that Cornelius denounced. It
did not enter into his philosophy to see how naturally one
had bred the other.

How the Dominicans or Preaching Friars by wild antics
worked upon the people, we have read elsewhere, and need
suspect little exaggeration when Cornelius relates! that
the Prior Claudius Salini had worried him from the
pulpit  with mdd barkings and marvellous gesticulations,
with outstretched fingers, with hands cast forward and
suddenly snatched back again, with grinding of the teeth,
foaming, spitting, stamping, leaping, cuffing up and down,
“with tearing at the scalp and gnawing at the nails.” You
can only, he said, quell such men with invective; and
apologising for his own rude tone in a dedication of what
he had written in the controversy to his friend John Nide-
pontanus, he cites the old proverb, that you can only match
a mad dog with a wolf. To the reader he says, that the
recent martyrologies and professed legends of the Saints
are full of such prodigious lies, that they make Christianity
a laughing-stock in the eyes of the Jews, Turks, and
‘Infidels. The story of the Blessed Anne’s three husbands
and three daughters Mary, is one of them. It is false,
says his first proposition. ¢ Jacques Faber d’Etaples,
gymnosophist of Paris,” says his second, ¢ has written a
book called On the Three and the One, upon the single
marriage and the single childbirth of St. Anne. Who-
ever,” adds the proposition following, * tells the people in
public assembly that this book ought to be burnt, and

" 1 In the prefatory letter to the Propositiones de B. Anne Monog.
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wishes every copy of it in the fire, is a presumptuous man,
judging falsely, and an evil-spoken detractor, doing atro-
cious wrong to that book and its author, and all literature.
He who is offended by the book is unlearned and obsti-
nate in ignorance, because the book itself is lustrous with
the authority of Scripture and of reason. He who is
scandalised by the author, is a wicked hypocrite, because
that author is gentle and of humble hehrt. But if any
one ventures to come into the lists against that book armed
with Scripture and with reason, him I will judge to be a
brave and a strong man, worthy to be met in conflict (for
the sake of truth, not of vainglory) by some learned
champion. Whoever speaks against that book in other
fashion, is a slanderer and foe to truth.”

Lies in his throat, in fact; for here we have a doughty
soldier challenging to argument in the true tournament
style, and his intention is to deal rough blows at his oppo-
nent. The precise opinion which he proclaims ¢ scandal-
ous and impious,” is that St. Anne first married Joachim
and gave birth—though by immaculate conception—to
the Virgin Mary. Then she married Cleophas and gave
birth to another Mary, that Mary marrying Alphzus
and becoming mother to James the Less, Joseph the Just;
and Simon Judas. Thirdly, St. Anne married Salome and
gave birth to another Mary, that Mary marrying Zebedee
and becoming mother to James and John the Evangelist.

This opinion, he asserts, is contrary to evidence of
Secripture,—of the types, the prophecies, the Gospels—
contrary to ancient Eastern custom, contrary to the pos-
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sibility of nature, contrary to all probability, and calculated
to bring into contempt the purity of her who was the
mother of the Virgin. It is unscriptural, unspiritual, and
tends to the debasement of believers, not to edifying.
The true doctrine is that St. Anne being past the age of
child-bearing, she was married to one man, and became the
immaculate mother of one daughter, the Virgin Mary.

Upon the statement of this case in eighteen Proposi-
tions, Salini the Dominican replied, and against his reply
Cornelius issued a not very short Defence of his Proposi-
tions!, arguing each of the eighteen points in detail, and
attacking in detail Salini’s efforts to refute them. The
tone in which Agrippa carries through his refutation of
Salini, is precisely that which Milton used against Sal-
masius. He attacks him scornfully for everything,—for his
spelling, and his grammar, and his Latin style, as well as
upon all points of his reasoning, and of course always for
his insolence. He attacks him as a Thomist, treats him
as a dog, and calls him dog. The Dominicans nearly all
of them belonged to the school of theology called Tho-
mist, after Thomas Aquinas, hotly opposed by the Scotists,
and afterwards by the Franciscans and Jesuits. The word
is much used as a reproach by Agrippa in this argument,
because it was one part of Thomist doctrine that the
Virgin Mary was conceived and born in sin.

Of Salini’s argument we may content ourselves with

! H. C. A. Defensio Propositionum prenarratarum contra quendam Domini-
castrum, illarum Impugnatorem, qui sanctissimam Deipare Virginis mairem
Ammam conatur ostenders polygamam. Op. Tom. ii. pp. 594-668.
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two short glimpses. He argues against the book of Jacques
Faber, and has lately been to Paris, yet he does not
rightly know the name of the Parisian doctor, and alludes
to him only as Peter Faber!. He counts up the advan-
tages supposed to be derived from St. Anne’s two super-
numerary husbands, and says, “surely it is better for the
Church to have had John, the two Jameses, the Apos-
tles Simon and Jude, than the widowhood of Anne?.”
In Agrippa’s argument there occur two declamatory pas-
sages which show distinctly the views taken by him of
the strife arising in the Church. 1In this one of his works
there occurs also a brief narrative of his career, given in
reply to Salini’s assertion that he is unlettered—one of those
useful little autobiographic fragments common in the
works of writers who belonged to that free-spoken time®.
And now, here is free speech to the Dominicans*: “I am
not ignorant that in the Gospel and in the administration
of the Church you are not set apart, but that you occupy
yourselves for the sake of lucre with the Pope’s indulgences,
the business of preaching, the confessional, burial rites, and
other offices of the Church. If these assemblies and these
ministrations brought you poverty instead of property, I
know you would not thunder your hyperboles in church,
you would not bind the people with your power over
purgatory by so many prodigious fables, so many ghostly
portents, so many markets for indulgences, so many mo-
nopolies of alms, and financial laws. You would not scent
like vultures the corpses of the rich, and come so craftily

! Ibid. p. 662. ? Ibid. p. 626. 3 Ibid. p. 596.  * Ibid. p. 600.
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about them; you would not, through the secrets of those
who are admitted to the confessional, fleece a rude popu-
lation more than by the tyranny of Phalaris.” Agrippa
dwells upon more extortions, and upon their playing upon
women’s fears. “1I speak,” he says, ¢ from knowledge and
experience, speaking not of all, but many who being
vowed to poverty are overcome by avarice and greed, and
convert alms into taxes, and seem to have given up their
own goods only that they may impudently beg the goods
‘of others. I may say this, too, that I can think of no
eagier way, no more deceitful, cunning, secret way of col-
lecting cash, goods, worldly wealth, than by abuse of these
indulgences, joined to luxurious beggary.”

Elsewhere he writes in the same work yet more empha-
tically as a man whose sympathy is with the Reformers.
He writes of those, who like Salini, ¢ towards God false!,
and towards man unjust, have slandered the truth, and
desired to bring hatred down on its promoters. So did
of old time Celsus against Christ, Julian the Apostate
against the Gospel, Diotrephes against John the Evan-
gelist, Apollophanes against Dionysius the Areopagite,
Ischyras against Athanasius, John of Antioch against
Cyril of Alexandria, Grapaldus and William of Ware
against Saint Bernard. The same has been done in our
times by some poor little bishop (whose crudities I once
read, though his name does not occur to me) against Gio-
vanni Pico, Count of Mirandola, and Jacob Hochstraten,

! Ibid. pp. 660-661. -
voL‘ II‘ E
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of the order of Dominicans, inquisitor at Cologne, against
an old teacher of mine, most learned in each faculty,
Peter of Ravenna. The same brotherkin, with Arnold de
Tungris and other sworn calumniators of Cologne, in-
sulted the most upright and learned man, Reuchlin of
Pfortzheim, and spread the most wicked lies about the
world totheir own everlasting infamy. So did Wigandus,
the beginning and the support of the Dominican heresy at
Berne; so did that Dominican brotherkin and Thomist
doctor against the illustrious doctor in each faculty, Sebas-
tian Brand, now chancellor and councillor at Zurich, as
well as against other famous doctors, being and speaking
evil. So did Sylvester Prierias, though master of the
palace to the Pope at Rome, brotherkin of the same order
of Dominicans and Thomist doctor, inveigh against that

most combative doctor, Martin Luther of Wittenberg, not
without giving proof of his own ignorance. Even John
Eckius, although an erudite man, and with scholastic
learning, battled against the same Luther, and against
Andrew Bodenstein of Carlstadt, with ill-success and to
his own mishap. Nor are there wanting envious and pes-
tilent detractors who join you, Salini, in calumny against
- Erasmus of Rotterdam, and Jacques Faber d’Etaples,
whom certain theologists of Paris, because he denied that
* crude translation of the New Testament, which you, and
sophist fellowslike you, call Jerome’s, to be Jerome’s, and
proved by arguments that it was not Jerome’s, have wished
to condemn as a heretic, blackening themselves eternally
and universally with their own ignorance and malice,
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not without also bringing ignominy on the whole Sor-
bonne.”

Bold speech like this could only invite persecution, and
‘this, as we shall see presently, was not. the only way in
which Cornelius was making himself odious in & town
noted. for bigotry. Metz was most cruel to the Jews, and
met alike by cruelty and treachery the first efforts of
the Reformers to obtain hearing within its walls. The
Geerman Lutherans desired much through Metz to intro-
duce the leaven of their bold opinions into France. At
first they were met by direct persecution, and years after-
wards, when it was politically requisite to promise them
a chapel, and they went out to worship on the faith of
such a promise, they were cruelly betrayed to slaughter.
Jean le Clerc, the first man who dared to preach the Re-
formed doctrine in Metz, not long after the date pf
Agrippa’s battling with the monks, was by the order of
Nicolas Savin, the Inquisitor, publicly whipped through
the streets on several successive days; and in the year
following, before the convent of the Celestines, the inge-
nuity of Savin procured for him a cruel martyrdom : his
nose was first cut off, then his right hand, then a hot iron
crown was placed upon his head, after which he was burnt
alivel. From the hand of this Nicolas Savin, a burly,

ignorant, and vicious man, who years afterwards was ex- -

pelled from Metz for civil crime, but returned and lived

! Histoive Générale de Metz, par des Religieuw Bénédictine de la Congré-
gation de St. Vannes. Metz, 1775. Tom. iii. p. 8.
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in his monastery unmolested!, nothing remains but a
sermon preached on the occasion of his publicly degrading
brother Chatelain, an Austin friar, who preached Lutheran
discourses, and was burnt for them at about the time of
Le Clerc’s martyrdom. The text of this Christian dis-’
course was John xx. 27— Be not faithless but believings.”

Such were the ministers of Christ in whom Cornelius
did not believe, and against whom his soul was at last
rebelling fiercely. While he was struggling with Salini,
‘he had strength also, at the same time, bravely and
humanely to face the Inquisitor himself, and save a helpless
girl from butchery. He was destroying his own worldly
prospects, risking alike income and fair fame ; but he was
‘being true to his own soul, and to its Maker.

At about this time Father Claudius went to Paris upon
business connected with his monastery, and was glad to
think that he should there meet with Jacques Fabers.
Apgrippa took the opportunity of forwarding a loving
letter to the Christian teacher by whose writings he had
been assisted, and enclosed a copy of the Propositions, in
which he had defended his fair fame against the monks, by
whom he had been slandered. The good doctor received
‘Claudius with pleasuret, and returned by him to Cornelius
Agrippa the first letter in a kindly correspondencef, sending
him also sundry books that had been written on the contro-

! Letter to Nidepontanus, prefixed to the Prop. de B. A. Monog.

* Higtoire Générale de Mets. * Ep. 27, Lib. ii. p. 744.
¢ Ep. 29, Lib. fi. p. 746. s Ep. 28, Lib. ii. p. 765.
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versy provoked by his argument againt the three husbands
of St. Anne. But the gentle old man shook his head
with grave and kindly deprecation over the harsh tone of
his young advocate. This is his first letter: ¢ Most honour-
able doctor, the venerable father Claudius Deodatus gave
me your letter, which I read with pleasure. Who would
not read gladly what he knows to have come from a candid
and well-wishing mind ? Do not, I beseech you, take it
ill that many oppose what I have written, either about
the Magdalene or about St. Anne. I think that, at
some future day, the truth of these things will become
clearer, about which I decide as an arguer only, not with
rash authority. Wherefore, I beg you, let your good-
will to no person be wounded through this matter. Error
has decay in itself, and will at last fall of itself, even
without being struck” In his second letter, and by
another opportunity, he says, “I would rather that the
affair about Anne were discussed without contention
among the learned ; but if, through the malignity of the
times, and the perversity of man’s wit, this cannot be, and
you have a disposition to contend, see that you by no
means do it through zeal for my credit, but only for the
defence of truth, and out of devotion to the Mother of God
and the most blessed Anne. . . . . In my opinion, he is
happier who does not contend than he who does. Act,
therefore, if possible, so prudently as neither to offend God
nor your neighbour.” This letter was written on the day
after Trinity Sunday, in the year 1519, upon seeing the

e ——— - e
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Propositions only. In September or October, Cornelius
forwarded a copy of the defence of ‘the Propositions?, re-
gretting that he had not time to copy them in duplicate,
because he was obliged to visit Germany, this probably
referring to another visit upon family affairs to Cologne,
where there lived his widowed mother on her little
patrimony. Faber, replying on the fourteenth of Novem-
ber?, regretted the hostility Agrippa was bringing dowa
upon himself; the most excellent and wise Reuchlin,
he said, had suffered much. If the dissertation of Cor-
nelius was to be printed, he advised careful revision, as
“the times yield wonderful critics” What Faber is said
at last to have deplored in his own character even these
Jletters show, gentle and kindly as they are.

We leave the subject of St. Anne to note another
indication of Agrippa’s disposition at this time. A friend
and doctor of law, Claudius Cantiuncula, whose relation
to the Church is not on a safe footing, has found it requi-
site to quit Metz suddenly. Agrippa finds that he has
gone to Basle, and writes to him3, «I know,' and do you
firmly. believe, that it is well with you if you are safe and
free away from here. What else I wish you to know I
doubt whether I can commit safely to a letter. It remains
only that I beg you to send me the works of Martin Luther,
as well as the Short Law Cases in a portable volume that
were once printed at Basle, and anything truly theological
in which you know I take the most delight. Be diligent

! Ep. 85, Lib. ii. p. 750. . 3 Ep. 86, Lib. ii. pp. 750, 751.
3 Ep. 26, Lib. ii. p. 744.
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to recover for me, if you can, my Commentanes on St

Paul, from Christopher Sdulhng of cheme, and set- me'z -
right with your true friends, as T fliech heva' .from ﬂb-- ’

fending you during your absence.”

Claudius Cantiuncula—he became afterwards a well
known jurisconsult, wrote law-books, and was Chancellor
of Einsilheim, in Upper Alsatia—Claudius Cantiuncula re-
plies, about their life of struggle, in a spirit contrary to
Faber’s': ¢ Virtue, without an energy, decays. Believe
me, my Agrippa, that up to this time I have searched all
Basle, and can procure nowhere the works of Luther; they
have all been long since sold, but are, it is said, to be re-
printed at Zurich. The Short Cases you want, nobody has.
I give you, however, a Compendium of true Theology,
issued by Erasmus, a work, Henry, which if I do not mis-
take, will give you pleasure; the Conclusions of Luther
and Eckius declaimed this year, and also some trifles about
the Emperor. Farewell. May 21, 1519.”

The Emperor had died, aged sixty, on the eleventh of
the previous January. Maximilian’s hereditary successor
was Charles V., and Agrippa’s fealty as a German noble
thus became due to another master. The succession to
the empire was contended for between Charles and the
King of France. Agrippa might ere long be serving
Charles; he could not tell. “T cleave to this town,” he
wrote, on the second of June, from Metz?, ¢ fastened by
I know not what nail: but so cleaving, that I cannot de-
termine how to go or stay. I never was in any place

1 Ep. 82, Lib. ii. p. 748. 3 Ep. 88, Lib. il. p. 749.



.
.
o e ) 4
® e® v o
. oo
.l

56 ngmes AGRIPPA.

. ;..-. ‘-. .o.

' fiom whlch I could aepart. more willingly than (with sub-
-+ :pgission, to you) from’ tIus. c1ty of Metz, the stepmother of

“&lF geod:schphrdnp.énd virtue.” He wrote to one of her
own sons, the young doctor of law, who had been forced
into voluntary exile from his native town and from his
parents.

“My Agrippa,” Cantiuncula wrote backl, ¢ soundest
of all friends, greeting: I received your two letters sent
by Sbrolius®” (a poet), “ and thank you for commending
me to the friendship of so learned and humane a man. .
Nothing new of Luther’s has come out; if anything ap-
pears, it shall quickly be communicated to you. Farewell,
and love me as you are wont: remember me also to my
parents. Salute your incomparable, exemplary wife, and
your son, who is so full of promise. Sbrolius also sends
good wishes to these, though he has no love for your elder
famulus, an unkempt fellow, who deserves, he says, to be
turned out of your house, and drudge his sordid days out
at 2 handmill. Basle, August 27th, 1519.”

Agrippa’s son is in another letter called “ Little Asca-
nius.” His name was Aymon®. He was but six or seven
years old at this time, and was his only son, though not his
only child. I think, for a reason that will afterwards ap-
pear, a daughter may have died at Metz, a little one, very
dear to his wife Louisa, and that it was buried in the
church of St. Cross, at which they worshipped, by the

1 Ep. 34, Lib. ii. p. 749.

2 Richard Sbrolius, a scholar and court poet, had translated Maximilian’s
Dewrdank into Latin verse. He taught in Swiss universities, and after-

wards served Charles V.
* Ep. 88, 49, 58, Lib. iii. pp. 804, 9, 17.
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good pastor, who was one of their best friends, John
Roger Brennon. Brennon was a man very like-minded
with Agrippa upon matters of honour and religion.
% When I am gone,” Agrippa used to tell him, as they sat
together, ¢ when they have me no longer at Metz to worry,
they will worry you instead, my friend’.” There were
strong friendships formed by those who worked together
in the midst of strife, resisting ignorance and super-
stition.

AtVuoypy, a neighbouring village, to north-westward of
Metz, on the other side of the Moselle, there lived a young
woman, a poor man’s wife, whose mother had been burnt
for a witch®. This source of endless horror and distress to
her, was also her own crime. As the mother had been,
8o, it was said, the daughter must be; and one night a
crowd of rustics, who had been drinking together, broke
into her house, dragged her with much ill-treatment from
her bed, and locked her in a prison of their own invention.
There, without any authority whatever, they detained her
until the chapter, moved by urgent representations, brought
her into the town for proper trial before the official of the
Court of Metz. The rustics were allowed a certain time
to decide whether they would accuse before the civil
power, or denounce the woman to the Inquisition. On the
appointed day eight scoundrels came forward as accusers ;
they were ordered to give prisoners as pledges of the good
faith of their suit against the woman, and demurring to

1 Ep. 44, Lib. ii. p. 769.

2 Ep. 40, Lib. ii. pp. 7565, 766, for the main narrative, compared with
letters 38 and 89, covers all t.lut follows on this subject.
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this, were allowed two days’ more reflection by advice of
Nicolas Savin, the Inquisitor, who sat with the Judge.
During those two days the Inquisitor received eggs,
butter, and cakes, the Judge gold pieces; and when the
case was next heard, the miserable woman was sent to
Vuoypy, in the hands of her accusers, or of four of them,
the other four having been rejected as notorious ruffians.
This was done suddenly, without the cognisance of Corne-
Lius Agrippa, who had come manfully forward to protect
the woman in her helplessness, and had argued publicly
as a jurisconsult, privately as a Christian, the illegality
and immorality of previous proceedings. Especially he
had opposed the right of the Dominican, Nicolas Savin, to
exercise his office of Inquisitor, or sit beside the Judge.
He had appeared in the court as advocate of the accused
on that occasion when the cause was postponed for two
days, had been reviled, he says, by « that brotherkin (I
err), that great, swollen, and fat brother, Nicolas Savin, of
the Dominican Convent, Inquisitorl,” and threatened with
a process against himself also, as favourer of heretics;
he had been in that spirit turned out of court. On the
same evening he wrote a letter to the Judge, showing the
law in writing that he was not suffered to explain by
word of mouth. For his being called a favourer of he-
retics, “ the rascally Inquisitor,” he says, “as you may see
by these his words, condemns the simple woman as a
heretic, when the cause of action scarcely has been stated.

' Ep. 88, Lib. ii. p. 752. This is the letter, pp. 752-7564, from which the
succeeding passages are quoted.
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I seek fair hearing for her while she is untried and un-
condemned, and the vile scoffer calls me favourer of
heresy ! Have you admitted this man to sit on the
bench with you? The lie is on his head, the infamous
calumniator, and he thinks to quell me with his threats ;
but, to the best of my calling, to the best of my constancy,
I will not desist from the defence of this innocent woman.
Let this brotherkin, priest, or Levite, turn his heart from
her. I will be pitiful with all my power, and call myself
Samaritan, that is to say not favourer of heretics, but a
disciple of him, who when it was said to him that he was
a Samaritan, and had a devil, denied that he had a devil,
but did not deny that he was a Samaritan.” Presently
he tells how, on the evening before, Savin, though he
had never before visited the place, went to Vuoypy,
feasted with the girl’s accusers, and took presents from
them. ¢ But,” he adds, “the hypocrite dissembles his
iniquity under the.shadow of the Gospel !” He ends a
letter, touching upon sundry legal points, by urging that in
the case in hand there is no heresy at all, or none that
comes at any time under the control of an inquisitor.
For no inquisitor has cognisance or jurisdiction on matters
of suspicion. Heresy must be manifest before it can fall
under inquisitorial correction : therefore the monk must
be excluded. “I pray you,” he says, “not to despise
what I have written, unless indeed, even from these pri-
vileges, the poor are excluded. If you are so persuaded,
laws help us in vain, and I have no need to discuss their
meaning. But I hope better things from your integrity,
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and have little distrust concerning that bloodthirsty
monk. Farewell From my study,—with all speed. In
this city of Metz, 1519.” He wrote to a corrupt judge,
as we have seen. The woman, given, on the next ap-
pointed day, into the power of her enemies, was dragged
back by them to Vuoypy, beaten and insulted on the way.
She was then thrown into a filthy place of durance—
filthy it must have been to have been called in those days
¢ worse than penal ”—suffering under the injuries she had
received, and deprived of rest by night or day, while her
accusers were at liberty, drinking and playing with their
trenchers. After some days, John Leonard, the official of
the court at Metz, gave hearing to the case in the village
itself, which lay beyond the circle of his jurisdiction.
Then the unhappy creature was proceeded against con-
trary to the tenor of the law, by a double suit at once, by
civil action and by inquisition. Her advocate, Agrippa,
being absent, her husband not permitted access to the
place of trial, lest he should interpose objection or appeal,
“by the advice,” says Cornelius, writing an account of
the case to his friend Cantiunculs, at Basle!—¢by the
advice of that great bloated and fat brute, the Inquisitor,
more cruel than the very executioner, the poor little
woman, by virtue of the before-named stupid book (the
¢ Malleus Maleficarum’), was exposed to the question
under torture. But at last the civil magistrate himself,
and those who were appointed questioners and censors,
having gone away smitten with horror at the savage

! The 88th letter of Book II. already cited.
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spectacle, the woman was left in the hands of the execu-
tioner and that Inquisitor, only her accusers and enemies
being present, but the judge and censors absent, and
among these she was then racked with atrocious torments.
Carried back to her dungeon, at the hands of her enemies
she suffered more ill-treatment, and was iniquitously de-
prived of her appointed food and-water. At length, the
iniquity becoming known, she was brought back to Metz,
by order of the chapter.”

By a strange chance 1t happened that the unjust judge,
John Leonard, had fallen sick, and was haunted by the
tortured woman’s agonies upon his death-bed. He ex-
pressed horror at Savin’s cruelty, and sent a special mes-
senger to the chapter, pleading for the victim with the
eloquence of his remorse, and to the Inquisitor Savin he
sent, by the hands of a notary, his written judgment that
the woman was innocent, or, if suspected, that she was
purged of offence by her late sufferings, and by all means
to be set free. But she was not set free. Nicolas Savin
took the writing addressed to him by the dying judge,
as an admission of his jurisdiction, and demanded that
the miserable woman be delivered up to him to be exposed
to a more searching torture, and then burnt. Cornelius
was indefatigable, and Louisa had reason to love her
husband for the noble energy with which he spent his
days in working all the powers of the law, seeking out
witnesses, and by public and by private pleading, ever
active in a work of mercy, careless of the ruin it might
bring to his own worldly reputation.
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To the successor of the deceased magistrate, as soon as
he was appointed, Cornelius sent this appeal®:

¢ You have seen lately, most honourable man, from the
acts themselves, those impious articles of a most iniquitous
information by virtue of which brother Nicolas Savin, of
the Dominican convent, Inquisitor of heretics, has frau-
dulently dragged into his slaughter-house this innocent
woman, in spite of God and justice, in spite of law and
equity, contrary to Christian conscience, brotherly kind-
ness, contrary to sacerdotal custom, the profession of his
rule, the form of laws and canons: and has also, as a wicked
man, wickedly and wrongfully exposed her to atrocious
and enormous torments: whereby he has earned for him-
self a name of cruelty that will not die, as the lord official
John Leonard, your predecessor now departed, himself
testified upon his death-bed: and the lords of the chapter
themselves know it with abhorrence. Among those ar-
ticles of accusation one and the first is, that the mother
of the said woman was burnt for witcheraft. I have ex-
cepted against this man as impertinent, intrusive, and in-
competent to exercise in this case the judicial function;
but lest you be led astray by false prophets who claim to
be Christ, and are Antichrist, I pray your reverence to
bear with a word of help, and only pay attention to a
conversation lately held with me upon the position of this
article, by the before-named bloodthirsty brother. For
he asserted superciliously that the fact was in the highest
degree decisive, and enough to warrant torture; and not

! Ep. 89, Lib. ii. pp. 754, 756.



AN APPEAL TO THE JUDGE. 68

unreasonably he asserted it according to the knowledge of
his sect, which he produced presently out of the depths.of
the ‘Malleus Maleficarum’ and the principles of peripatetic
Theology, saying: ¢It must be so, because it is the
custom with witches, from the very first, to sacrifice their
infants to the demons, and besides that’ (he said), ¢ com-
monly, or often, their infants are the result of intercourse
with incubi. Thus it happens that in their offspring, as
with an hereditary taint, the evil sticks’ O egregious
sophism! Is it thus that in these days we theologise? Do
figments like these move us to the torturing of harmless
women? Is there no grace in baptism, no efficacy in the
priests bidding: ¢ Depart, unclean spirit, and give place to
the Holy Ghost,’ if, because an impious parent has been
sacrificed, the offspring must be given to ‘the devil? Let
any one who will, believe in this opinion, that incubi can
produce offspring in the flish. What is the fruit of this
impossible position, if it be admitted, unless, according
to the heresy of the Faustinians and Donatists, we get a
greater evil as result? But to speak as one of the faithful,
what matters it if one is the child of an incubus, what
hurt is it to have been devoted as an infant to the devil?
Are we not all from the nature of our humanity born one
mass of sin, malediction, and eternal perdition, children
of the devil, children of the Divine wrath, and heirs of
damnation, until by the grace of baptism Satan is cast out,
and we are made new creatures in Jesus Christ, from whom
none can be separated, except by his own offence. You
see now the worth of this position as a plea for judgment,
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at enmity with law, perilous to receive, scandalous to pro-
pound. Farewell, and either avoid or banish this blas-
pheming brotherkin. Written this morning in the city of
Metz.” Delivered doubtless as soon as the ink was dry.

Thus, both as lawyer and as theologian, Cornelius
Agrippa laboured, and he won his cause. He brought
the Inquisitor into discredit and made of him a by-word
for a little time. The chapter excluded him from juris-
diction in the case, the woman received absolution from
the vicar of the church at Metz, and her enemies were
fined a hundred francs' for unjust accusation of the in-
nocent.

That was nearly the last cause pleaded among the
citizens at Metz by their Town Advocate and Orator. He
had expended his own reputation on the work. To have
carried on simultaneously against the Dominicans two dis-
putes open to a perilous misinterpretation, was to have
made an enemy of the whole order, and of every corrupt
monk in the town. He had many good friends there:
Master Raynald, a physician; the family of the young
lawyer Cantiuncula, who had retired to Basle; Tyrius, &
clockmaker ; Jacopo, a bookseller; a notary of the ad-
joining township, Baccarat; James and Andrew Charbon;
and Pierre Michel, a learned canonist, native of Metz, who
was versed in many kinds of literature, was afterwards ho-
noured of princes, and became Abbot of St. Arnoul?. He
was in close friendship and correspondence with the monk

1 Ep. 46, Lib. ii. p. 763. * Ep. 43, Lib. ii. p. 759. .
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Chatelain!, whom Nicolas Savin soon afterwards expelled
from his order and committed to the flames for preaching
Lutheran discourses. These were powerless against the
mass. Among his special enemies we should name Clau-
dius Drouvyn? an athletic Dominican. His special friend
at Metz was John Roger Brennon, curate of St. Cross.

Preached against in the churches and avoided in the
streets, out of the narrow circle of his household friends
regarded with suspicion, the vocation of Cornelius was
gone at Metz; it was not there that he could found a quiet
home. Directly after he had assured the success of all his
pleading against the Inquisitor, he accepted the conse-
quences of the course he had pursued, and asked permis-
sion of the deacons to resign his office and be gone. Leave
was granted readily, and after brief preparation, with his
fortunes for the third time wrecked, Cornelius Agrippa,
towards the close of January, 15203, journeyed with wife
and son through wintry weather to his mother at Cologne.
“He was hunted from this town,” say the Benedictine
monks, who wrote a copious history of Metz4—¢ he was
hunted from this town in 1520.”

! Ep. 45 and 47, Lib. ii. 2 Ep. 44, Lib. ii. p. 761.

3 Compare dates of letters 42 and 43, Lib. ii.

4 Histoire de Metz, par des Bénédictins, Tom. ii. p. 700. Il fut chassé
de cette ville en 1520. Il a passé pendant sa vie pour un grand sorcier, et

est mort en réputation de fort mauvais Chrétien.” He is already ¢ fort
mauvais Chrétien,” but the character for sorcery is not yet earned.
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CHAPTER IV.

FROM METZ TO COLOGNE.

LEAVE to quit Metz was obtained from the Deaconson
the twenty-fifth of January?, and a few days afterwards
Cornelius Agrippa set out with his family upon the journey
to Cologne, travelling in spite of heavy rains, not without
risk of being stopped by floods®. At Cologne he had a
mother and a sister® living on the little patrimony that
remained after his father’s death. It would maintain
them all while he was seeking a new field of labour for
himself. ~What the perplexed scholar could earn he
earned as a physician, for it was as doctor of medicine
that he proposed to make his next attempt to climb the
hill of lifet. He never had encouragement to settle in his
native town. As often as he returned thither, and truly

! Ep. 42, Lib. ii. p. 758.

2 Ep. 44, Lib. ii. p. 769. ¢ Condolui,” says Brennon, * vices tuas, per-
timuique, ne tibi ceelo cadentes imbres iter intercluderent.”

3 Ep. 44, Lib. ii. p. 762.

4 Ep. 16, Lib. iii. p. 789.
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as he felt bound to it by the ties of home, the city of
Cologne, and even his relations out of his own actual
home, denied him honour!. The University of Cologne
had become known as the head-quarters of the men who
directed against Reuchlin, and those who were at all like-
minded with him, the attacks of all the blockheads in the
Church. For favourers of Luther there was in Cologne
no tolerance. It was in spirit another Metz, and by this
time, as will presently be evident, Cornelius Agrippa had
arrived at theological opinions and sympathies with which
the air of Geneva, his wife’s birthplace, agreed better than
that of any city in which priests of the old school were .
paramount.

We have seen, too, how he went to Cologne with his
spirit chafed by the bigotry and ignorance of people of
this class. They have taught him to speak bitter words®
Henceforth he is against them, and they are against him.
For the first few months after his return to the paternal
walls, while he could do no more than associate himself
in friendship with the few liberal and learned men whom
his town tolerated, among whom Hermann Count of
Neuwied was the most conspicuous, with these friends it
was his chief pleasure to agree in adverse criticism on his
late antagonists®. The heat of the fierce conflict did not

1 Ep. 26, Lib. vii. p. 1041,

2 Ep. 48, Lib. ii. p. 759.

3 Ep. 50, Lib. ii. p. 768. ¢ Ubi invicem cum doctissimis viris non absque
jucundissimo fructu lte convivemus qui jam Fratrum illorum Theosophis-
tarum verbovomas linguas aded excantavimus, ut amplius ne murire
audeant.”

F2
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instantly subside; his private labour was the preparing of
his disputation with Salini for the press, and he was pro-
posing to print with his own thesis the whole of Salini’s
argument for the three husbands of St. Annel. It was
in Cologne that he meant to reissue his denunciations of
a bigot! At the same time, the most welcome news he
had at first, until the heat of controversy had abated, came
in the letters from his old pastor, Roger Brennon, of St.
Cross, who faithfully informed him of the further issue of
the strife in which he had been for a time so actively
engaged.

Brennon was seeing the fulfilment of Agrippa’s pro-
phecy by falling into his friend’s place among the contro-
versialists?. In his reports—though he expresses distrust
of his Latin, and seems to wish it were consistent with his
station in society to write in the vernacular—we get some
of the most graphic sketches of the sort of life that was then
being led at Metz among the scholars and the theologians.

At one time, Brennon has to tell of a council held by
the learned, in one of the town churches, to discuss
the topic upon which there had arisen bitter strife—the
number of the husbands of St. Anne. There is a great
assembly of rustics, grandmothers, mothers, and children,
listening open-mouthed to the president, who begins the
- discussion with a sermon three hours long, accompanied
with much throwing about of the arms and actor’s gesture,

- 1 Ep. 48, Lib. ii. p. 759.
2 Ep. 44, Lib. ii. pp. 759-762, until the next reference, but the statement
in the next sentence rests on Ep. 49, Lib. ii. p. 766.
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only at last to be stopped by the hand-clapping of the
other priests and scholars, who desire to help in the debate.
Then Master Reginald, a priest of influence, rises, and
argues against the blessedness of second nuptials, but is of
opinion that St. Anne married three husbands for the sake
of building up the Church. Then follows Master Rey-
nald, the physician, one of Agrippa’s friends,arguing against
the contamination of her who had once been immaculate,
and urging that if Anne was the mother of more Marys
than one, the birth of all was equally miraculous. To
this it is replied that the second and third Marys were
born in sin, but that the subsequent sin did not affect the
purity of the first Mary’s conception, nor was it deroga-
tory to her honour, having been permitted. Then Bren-
non comes forward, warmly decrying all such reasoning as
rash and scandalous; and showing that it is not founded on
authority of Scripture. He urges that one Mary was the
wife of Cleophas, and not his daughter; it is replied that
so far may be true, but that there was another Cleophas
who was her father. ¢ Did you never see,” cries a monk,
“two asses in a market-place named Martin?” Brennon
replies: “I have seen two asses together, of which I am
one, and you the other; but I have never seen or read
that there were two men in Scripture with the name of
Cleophas.” Hereupon there is great laughterin the crowd.
Brennon quotes the histories of Eusebius and Hegesippus.
It is replied that they are not to be believed; they some-
times dreamed. The Dominicans quote Thomas Aquinas;
Brennon will not hear of him, nor of Augustine, Jerome,
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Chrysostom, or anybody else; they also are not to be be-
lieved, they sometimes dreamed,—and the rustics enjoy
and applaud the retort, while the Augustinians and
Thomists become angry. Then Brennon suddenly re-
vokes all that he has said, and asserts that Saint Anne
had not three husbands, but four. They ask who was the
fourth, and he replies, Marcolphus. Dangerous jesting,
Master Roger Brennon! After he has withdrawn, a
herculean priest, Claudius Drouvyn, approaches him with
glowing eyes, and labours in vain to provoke him to an
open quarrel. Presently thrusting out head and lips
towards Brennon’s ear, the Dominican whispers fiercely:
“I wish you were burnt for a heretic. I have some
fagots I would gladly spend upon you.” Nobody being
by to hear his answer, Brennon replies, with a reference to
the Dominican Wigand, who some ten years before had
been burnt for feigned miracles at Berne: ¢ Keep them;
they will yet be wanted for yourself and your brother
Dominicans; they have not cleared off all your heresies at
Berne.” Drouvyn, not cooled by such a taunt, next
meets with Brennon the same evening in the public
square, and, going up to him furiously, as he stands con-
versing with some friends, shouts, ¢ You are a fool,—you
are an ass,—you are an impudent fellow, who have calum-
niated the great Saint Augustine!” For such words,
publicly spoken, Drouvyn is liable to be brought to the
proof, and Brennon summons him to answer for himself
before the judges. The Dominican makes overtures for
reconcilement, and they are refused.



METZ GOSSIP—WITCHES. 7t

Brennon’s conduct of course is not praiseworthy, but it
seems to be after the mammer of the life of Metz. “Iwill
tell you,” he says, in another letterl, ¢ what has been done
during these last few days by Nicolas Savin, master of the
heretics. A certain decrepid old woman, suspected of
witcheraft, being exposed by Savin to dire tortures, con-
fessed herself, under excruciating pain, to be a witch, to
have denied Christ on the suggestion of an incubus, to
have flown through the air, to have raised storms, to have
inflicted damage and disease on men and cattle. But she
confessed also, that when a communicant at Easter, she took
away Our Lord’s own body and mixed it with herbs and
ashes into a magical ointment in the presence of the demon,
who took part as his own share, and left her the rest for
wicked uses. More of these fables, such as commonly are
told of evil women, Savin himself extorted from the
before-mentioned crone, who, since it was her miserable
lot in her innocence to want a defender, was burnt to
ashes. Savin, boastful of his achievement, then vehe-
mently exaggerated in a wordy assembly every article of
acousation, chiefly that which I have just told you about
the Eucharist, and the whole population was incited to a
search for witches. There is a murmuring of the rough mob
against poor little women; a detestable hatred springs up.
Here and there the peasantry confer together, and many
crippled old women are seized, but most run from the
danger. Savin rejoices, hoping that it may bring him
hereafter praise and profit if he can tyrannise in a like

! Ep. 59, Lib. ii. pp. 776-778.
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way over these poor bodies. Then I, indignant at our
citizens, and at the insolence of the surrounding country-
people, published my detestation of the senselessness of
Savin, who could so foolishly believe that the Sacrament
of the Eucharist could be meddled with by a demon,
changed into the form of a poisonous ointment, and in
part taken away by him; it was, I said, over bold to
preach this to a Christian people, when such a thing was
in no way credible by any Christian man. The obstinate
crowd runs down upon me; they put forward Savin, so
well skilled in sacred letters; he, the Inquisitor, he, the
pious father, is safe, they assert, even if the cowl can cover
error. I withstand them all, persist in giving reason for
so doing, bring forward the Scripture: at length my
words have weight with all, and reverence cools towards
Savin. But he, to consult his honour, and confirm his
influence, promises an assembly on the Sunday following.
Therein, to confirm his error, he deluded the people with
this trivial argument, that Christ was carried over a high
mountain, and to the pinnacle of the temple, by the Devil;
therefore it was no marvel that Satan might lay a hand
upon the Eucharist. Again the unlearned masses would
have assented to him, had I not opposed him to his face,
upon the spot, saying: that at that time, when the Lord
was tempted in the desert, He was not known by the
Tempter; who had at last, when told that he should not
tempt the Lord his God, trembled suddenly and fled.
Before that Lord, become now the Redeemer of the
human race, he trembles, and takes flight eternally, so
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that by the mere name of Jesus, and the signature of the
cross, devils are cast out. . . . . When I had said these,
and more such things, the friends of Savin left him; he
was again laughed at; they scoffed at him, and by many
- even he himself was called a heretic. At last all the poor
women who were imprisoned were set free, and those who
had fled returned in safety. Savin meanwhile sits in his
cell and gnaws his finger-nails for grief, not venturing to
show himself in open street.” Of the great picture of the
Reformation in the Church, bred by the revival of letters
and awakening of independent thought, of the historical
gcene of that grand controversy, much of the background
was, as it were, shaded in with little arguments like these.
Brennon reports to his friend more of this kind of life at
Metz, but enough has been said to show of what sort
were in that town the experiences of Cornelius Agrippa.
We must add, however, that the country-woman whom
Agrippa wrested from the clutch of the Inquisitor is re-
ported as having remembered Brennon for her henefactor’s
friend, and bringing to him frequently thank-offerings of
eggs and butter?.

From Metz to Cologne had been, in respect to tolera-
tion, no change for the better. To a friend, John Ceesar,
who had been wronged by the Cologne magistrates because
accused of heresy, Cornelius wrote? in that year, 1520,

- 1 Ep. 58, Lib. ii. p. 771. * Te salvere jubemus omnes, tuosque omnes,
precipue vetulam de Vapeya, quee mihi frequenter ob tui familiarem con-
suetidinem rustica munerula adfert.”

2 Ep. 60, Lib. ii. p. 778.
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that he would not lament with or console him, but that
he offered his congratulations: “For what more brilliant
fortune could befal you than to receive the vituperation of
those who have hated none except the best and wisest men,
among whom it is no slight honour foryou to be numbered ?
Who does not know that these are the masters who ex-
pelled from the schools John Campanus, a man noted for
his learning and his virtue;—who turned out of the town
Peter of Ravenna, the most famous doctor of law;—who
were the backbiters with foulest calumny of the most
learned Hermann Count of Neuwied ;—who have aspersed
with their foul thoughts Erasmus of Rotterdam, a man
superior to all by reason of his life and of his learning, and
Jacques Faber d’Etaples, the single restorer of peripatetic
philosophy, most skilled in mathematics and in literature,
human and divine? But against John Reuchlin of Pfortz-
heim, most illustrious jurisconsult, master of many mysteries
of literature and of languages, they fought with obstinacy
until all their learning, credit, fame, authority, fell into
one total and final wreck, when through the whole world
the infamy of their ignorance, ignominy, and perfidy
became a common talk. See, then, what glory has be-
fallen you in being attacked by such foes, and numbered
with go many illustrious heroes. See how you have sud-
denly acquired what was until now wanting to your
merit—"  And in this strain Agrippa runs on merrily
until he closes with triumphal song, fitting to words of ex-
ultation several bars of merry music. There is a heart-ache
under it, the bitterly defiant mirth is the cry not of con-
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tent, but disappointment; it is the voice not of strength,
but of weakness; there is too much in it of despair.

Nevertheless, Agrippa labours still on his own path,
honestly and boldly, though not with the strength of men
who are before him in the race. Cantiuncula, at Basle,
sends word to him of any new thing published by theolo-
gians whom both admired. When an edition of the Let-
ters of Erasmus was on the point of being issued from the
press of Frobenius, Cantiuncula expressed his opinion that
it would be a work not to compare with Politian, but to
prefer to him, and conjectured that its price would be two
gold pieces!. Cantiuncula himself was retained at Basle by
a salary, and had in this year (1520) finished preparing a
collection of his lectures upon many legal topics for the
press, forming a book, written, as the author stated to the
public, neither for the most ignorant nor for the most
learned; but he trusted that, although ¢ the omniscient
Henry Cornelius Agrippa, aristarch of polite letters,” be-
longed to the latter class, he would take pleasure in the
work, and help the writer by free criticism?,

It had been understood when Cornelius left Metz in
January, that his friend Brennon was to visit him at the
succeeding Haster time3, with a learned acquaintance,
Marcus Damascenus, who had in manusecript three books
on the Nature of the Soul.

A few matters of business left unsettled at Metz, Bren-
non managed for his friend, among which was the receipt

! Ep. 41, Lib. ii. p. 757. 2 Ep. 58, Lib. ii. p. 756. 3 Ep. 47.
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on his account of money due from Chatelainl, as we may
reasonably suppose for medical attendance. All references
to this Chatelain, who duly paid his debt, are in the
kindest spirit. No doubt it is the same who soon after-
wards was burnt at Metz upon the charge of heresy. At
Easter, Brennon was unable to join his friend, who was
already being troubled at Cologne by one person at least
with slanders, not against himself only, but also against
his wife, so frequent and public, so bitter and malicious,
that he called upon the Church as a reconciler of disputes
among communicants to reprehend and check them?
Brennon, unable to travel to Cologne at Easter, promised
that he would go at Whitsuntide, if he was not despatched
to Rome. The Abbess of St. Glodesindis was dead, and
there was a contest of three candidates for the succession
to her office. The decision having been referred to Rome,
Brennon thought he might have to go thither upon that
businesss. Cornelius replied that it would be imprudence
and folly to go to Rome when the weather was so hot—
he wrote this on the fourth of May—a visit to Cologne
would be much better for him. On a question of health,
Cornelius was sensitive just then, for he was in the first
days of recovery from an attack of tertian fever. Brennon
had better come to Cologne with all possible speed, and
with this invitation there went to their old pastor Louisa’s
greeting, and the expression of her reverence as to a
parent®. The young couple—Agrippa’s present age is
' Ep. 47 also Ep. 50, Lib. ii. ; and Ep. 57, Lib. ii.

3 Ep. 48, Lib. ii. p. 764. 3 Ep. 49, Lib. ii. p. 767.
4 Ep. 50, Lib. ii. p. 768.
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thirty-four—had brought away with them from Metz a
strong affection for the parish priest by whom so many of
their bold opinions had been shared. Many little gifts
were despatched to him by Louisa from Cologne, one of
which only, Cornelius fears, reached its destination; for
although the most trifling—it was a piece of her needle-
work!—it was the only one acknowledged (and that one

' most lovingly), therefore they must put no more faith in
the messenger to whom the others were entrusted®.

The succession to the rule over the nuns of St. Glo-
desindis having been settled quietly without the interven-
tion of the Pope3, obstacles more serious arose to prevent
Brennon’s fulfilment of his promise to Louisa and her
husband. At the beginning of June, or end, of May (old
style), he was seized with an acute fever, which, because
it was characterised by great chill at the surface of the
body, and much inward heat, he treated for himself by
roasting the outside of his body at a fire, and cooling his
inner man for two days with a diet composed wholly of
cherries. Astonishing the doctors of Metz by the result
of this very direct way of fighting with a case, Brennon
recovered speedily, and, while recovering, was summoned
to the funeral of his mother4, whom a month before he
had been expecting to have with him at Metz, together
with a sister’. His mother’s death gave Brennon much
private care and occupation. The visit to Cologne was

! Ep. b5, Lib. ii. p. 774. 2 Ep. 61, Lib. ii. p. 779.
3 Ep. 53, Lib. ii. p. 771. 4+ Ep. 55, Lib. ii. p. 773.
5 Ep. 49, Lib. ii. p. 767, and for the next fact.
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deferred, therefore, till Michaelmasl, when he and Corne-
lius would read together certain dogmas of Trithemius,
by this time dead, which had come by testament to the
hands of Agrippa. Meanwhile he sends transcribed a por-
tion of the work of their friend Damascenus, on the Va-
rious and Admirable Nature of the Human Soul2.

Of their acquaintance Tyrius, the clockmaker, Brennon
had to report that he was deep in alchemy, and believed
himself to be on the point of solving the great problem of
transmutation. The quick-witted priest told pleasantly
the story of a day’s excursion he had made with Tyrius
and others, over surrounding hills and fields and through
the woods, all armed with swords and other weapons (be- .
cause of the brigands), and so following a guide who was to
point out to them a little herb, supposed to be the one
thing requisite to render Tyrius the happiest and most
illustrious of men. All day long they sought in vain; at
last, however, they found one herb in a field. This plant -
was dug up and was carried home, as a wild boar might
be, in triumph by the hunters. On the way home the party
travelled through a wood wherein there was the same herb
growing in profusion; all, therefore, finally returned in
great excitement, loaded with it, and at the house of
Tyrius was held high festival that night. By this account
Cornelius is slightly interested, much amused?.

Over the first months of quiet at Cologne the bustle of
the past thus spreads its influence. There is only one

* Ep. 61, Lib. ii. p. 779. * Ep. 58, Lib. ii. p. 771.
* Ep. 62, Lib. ii. p. 770.
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more of. these references to old friends at which we have
to pause. Cantiuncula, visiting his parents, writes from
Metz to Agripps, begging that his mother may be com-
forted with a few letters from him in the vulgar tongue.
He had won her confidence as a physician and a friend.
“T cannot tell you,” her son writes, “ how much the little
gift of a few words from you will comfort her. She
makes so much of you, of your advice, your words, and
all your opinions!.” In words like these we find another

little touch of life that indicates Agrippa’s gentleness of

character. Brennon expresses some concern lest his friend
should not have improved his worldly fate by quitting
Metz, and overwhelmed by cares, may be lost altogether
to his friends. I can hold my course, Cornelius replies,
unhindered by fortune. I can remain myself, through all
changes of home and lot.

In a letter to his friend Brennon, written from Cologne
on the sixteenth of June, in this year 15202, he tells
exultingly of the discomfiture of Hochstraten and his
tribe by Reuchlin and Sickingen, but with a stronger in-
terest and a much deeper concern of the “bold temerity”
of Hutten, who has been in Cologne together with some
other Lutherans, openly throwing off allegiance to Rome.
Are there not primates and bishops in Germany, they
said, that we must degrade ourselves even to the foot-
kissing of the Roman bishop? Let Germany part from
the Romans, and return to its own primates, bishops, and
pastors. Some princes and states, adds Agrippa, lend

¥ Ep. 58, Lib. ii. p. 775. % Ep. 54, Lib, ii. p. 772.
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their ears to this. I know not in what way will avail the
Emperor’s authority (that of Charles V.); “ for my part,
I have contemplated him as a man wholly saturnine, and
repose in him no hope of any good. I shall remain here
at Cologne during this twelvemonth. Next spring I shall
migrate again into Savoy.”

For by the Duke of Savoy expectations had been raised
once more, and Cornelius was now at the beginning of a
two years’ course of destructive hope. I may forestal the
narrative—if it be to any reader of experience a fore-
stalling—to say that this hope is one doomed to end in
disappointment. It means only the wasting of long days,
the purposeless halt in a difficult career, loss of time, loss
of peace, and loss of bread. Agrippa has the world
before him, and a prince inviting him back into his
service bids him make terms with his chancellor.

Charles V. visited Cologne and stayed there for several
days with many princes, but of him or of his court
Agrippa sought no favoursl, He was content with his
experiences of service to the court of Austria, and he had
no desire at all to make part of a court in Spain. He
still, however, had his Austrian connexions, his rank as a
noble, and the family position in Cologne inherited from
his forefathers. Thus it is that we find him to have been
applied to by a friend to procure proper honour and har-
bour in Cologne for Paul Oberstayn, chief magistrate of
Vienna, when he was about to travel through that city®.

! Ep. 61, Lib. ii. p. 780. * Ep. 62, Lib. ii. p. 780.
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Student still of the Cabalal, and known both at Metz
and Cologne as an investigator of the abstruse secrets of
nature?, we find Cornelius applied to once or twice for
help in magical and mathematical perplexities. The Count
Theodore of Manderscheydt—who afterwards received pay
from the town of Metz as the commander of its mili-
tary force—caused him to be applied to for the name of
the mathematician who constructed the Metz fortifications,
and for information of his own respecting thems. Early
n 1521, Brennon sends to him special tidings of a travel-
ling practitioner, who has a secret cure for the disease
spread so widely by the licence of the French camps, and
promises to find the secret out if possible®. In the begin-
ning of the year 1521, there is a famulus who had been
dismissed,—the same no doubt of whom Sbrolius had
given so bad a character—making his peace with his old
master and mistress, pardoned and on his way, with dogs
. —Cornelius has tenderness for dogs—to join them. He
is to make haste, because they are not likely to remain
more than about another fortnight in Cologne; but the
floods detain him on the journey, and he is obliged to
borrow money on Agrippa’s credit.

Agrippa’s journey was to have been first to Metz. The
negotiation with the Duke of Savoy was still unsettled:
nothing was being earned, there was only the patrimony
to be spent under the roof of his mother at Cologne®.
Active steps of some kind were to be taken, and the first

! Ep. 63, Lib. ii. p. 780. 2 Ep. 1, Lib. iii, p.781.  * Ibid.

* Ep. 5, Lib. iii. p. 784, * Ep. 2, 8, 4, Lib. iii, pp. 781-788.
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step out of Cologne was to have been to Brennon’s house
at Metz, for a short sojournl. Was to have been: and
the step truly was taken, but with how much unexpected
sorrow |

On the eve of departure from Cologne, not many days
before Palm-Sunday, Cornelius Agrippa wrote to his
friend Brennon, who had been spending at their house
some of the first weeks of the year,—% From the very day
of St. Catherine, on which you left us, my dearest wife
began to sicken:” she had suffered severe pains from
visceral disease. “On Quadragesima Sunday she took to
her bed, to my great grief and loss; but I would bear all
things most cheerfully if she would but recover, to which
end I strive with the most diligent help of physic and
physicians” (alas, for thee, Louisa!), “sparing no cost or
labour. And if it would please the most high God to
relieve us of our distress, or if my dearest wife, as we
hope, regained ever so little health, we would take boat at
once, and make the utmost haste to you with sail and oar.
About my delay or about my coming write by the first
messengers, and of what you wish me to know secretly in-
form me in our cipher. . . . . My wife sends you endless
greetings, and beseeches that you will help her with your
holy prayers, that she may be restored as soon as possible
to her old state of health, and that we all come to you
together safe and sound.”

Vain were all prayers. If Louisa died at Cologne, in
the arms of Agrippa and his mother, the bereaved hus-

! Ep. 5, Lib. iii. p. 788.
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band re-entered Metz with his dead wife, carried for burial
by Brennon in their old Church of St. Cross. For this
reason I think she may have had her little daughter buried
there. But if it was not so, there was a brief recovery,
permitting the boat-journey on the Rhine and the Moselle,
and. it was with a dying wife that Cornelius Agrippa passed
again under the gates of Metz, that were to him the gates
of sorrow. By Brennon, in the Church of St. Cross at
Metz, the faithful wife was buried. Agrippa supplied
money for a worthy tomb?, and ever afterwards took care
that a pious service was held annually in her memory,
and for her soul'srepose®. When all was over, he and his
son quitted the inhospitable town. Even his friend Bren-
non knew not whither he was flying, in his poverty and
his despairs. '

1 Ep. 8, Lib. i, p. 785.

2 Ep. 19, Lib. iv. p. 846.

3 Ep. 8, Lib. iii. p. 785. * Ab eo quo a nobis discesseris,” he says, when
he has found him, ‘ nullus unquam fuit qui aut literas dederit, aut saltem

de te verbum ullum: id siquidem suspicione magna non caruit, que nos
" mente cruciatos satis effecerit.”

G2
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CHAPTER V.

CORNELIUS PRACTITIONER OF MEDICINE IN SWITZERLAND—QUESTIONS OF
MARRIAGE AND OF CHURCH REFORM.

GENEVA was the place to which Cornelius Agrippa
had retired with his son!, when his friend Brennon feared
that he might have acted desperately in the paroxysm of
a recent grief. That he should have gone to Geneva
was most natural. It was the only town in which he had
ever thought of establishing himself as a physician, to live
wholly by his own exertions, without help from any public
office, or engagement with a private patron. When
Louisa died, Agrippa was being still flattered with hope
of an establishment in life under the auspices of the Duke
- of Savoy. The issue of his hope was doubtful; and it
was well that he should, without forming firm ties in any
place, support himself until the issue of the pending treaty
with the Duke was known ; and that he should also prepare
the way for other means of livelihood, in case of its un-

! Ep. 7, Lib, iii. p. 784.
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favourable termination. Cornelius was thirty-five years old,
and could not afford to waste more of his lifetime in idle
waiting at Cologne. Then again, Geneva was the place
in which lived they who could speak to him with sym-
pathy of his departed wife; and there was an additional
consideration, of no slight importance, in the fact that this
was one of the Swiss towns, in which free thought upon
religious matters had asserted itself boldly, and in which
Cornelius could find most of that spiritual consolation
which the bruised heart seeks.

If there had before been any hesitation with him as to
his relations with the Church, none remained after the
death of Louisa. He did not secede from it, for he thought
of the reforms then afoot as coming from within; with
the spirit of reform, however, and with the Reformers, he
allied himself completely. Persecuted Protestant pastors
were his friends in Switzerland; Fabricius Capito! was
his companion ; Zuinglius? regarded him as an acknow-
ledged helper in the great war he was waging against
Church corruption. Although more earnest than Erasmus
in this war, Agrippa still followed the example of Erasmus
in avoiding open breach with the Church Universal—not
erring in this matter through any personal cowardice, but
as one feeling how much easier it is to destroy than to
build up, as one timidly settled on the rock of Rome, and
labouring to make it fertile; not quitting it, lest he might
suffer spiritual shipwreck in the open sea of strife, while

! Ep. 18, Lib. iii. p. 791. 2 Ep. 82, Lib. iii. pp. 829, 830,
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seeking a more fruitful soil that perhaps never would be
discovered. With a less contemplative mind Cornelius
would probably have done more memorable service to the
cause be favoured, and he would certainly have taken a
position among Protestant reformers so well recognised as
to have baffled calumny. Let us know Luther as we
hitherto have known Agrippa, by the showing only of
his orthodox detractors, and of which of the two men
who sought righteousness—Luther or Agrippa—should
we have to believe most emphatically that he was a child
of Satan ? Luther, however—¢ that most combative
monk,” as Agrippa calls him—Ilaid about him lustily,
headed a host of conquerors, and left his fame entrusted
to the jealous care of thousands of his fellow-warriors. -
Cornelius Agrippa dreamed, and reasoned, and aspired,
making his worth known but to a few dozen wise and
learned friends, who honoured him in private, while he
said and did enough to constitute a multitude of busy
priests his merciless detractors.

In what way Cornelius, after the fitst grievous shock,
bore the bereavement of his wife we shall understand best
when we know clearly his views upon the sacrament of
marriage. He has expressed them in s little treatisel, for
in his time the whole topic was laid open to discussion ;
and it was one part of the contest carried on by many of
the Reformers, to oppose what they assumed to be the
strictly scriptural view of marriage to opinions, both in

1 H. C. 4. de Sacramento Matrimonii Declamatio. QOpuscula (ed. Mense
Septemb. 15632), sig. pag. D v.—E iv.
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the Church and in society, that seemed to them corrupt.
There was something of a protest against what they con-
sidered error, and a practical assertion against it of one
of the texts of St. Paul, when both Capito and Zuinglius
took young widows for wives. Their doctrine, and that
of Cornelius, was, that in heaven there is neither marrying
nor giving in marriage: that marriage is a human bond—
of all such the most sacred—designed for solace, for the
peopling of the world, and for the preservation of a chaste
life without violence to nature. They held marriage to
be the natural state of man-in society, from which no
person could withdraw himself justly, except only by
reason of incompetence, or of a religious vow, in accord-
ance with the saying of St. Paul to the unmarried and -
widows, “It is good for them to abide even as 1.” But
if nature is not to be curbed, then “let every man,” says
St. Paul, “ have his own wife, and every woman her own
husband. Art thou loosed from a wife ?”” he adds, “seek
not a wife. But and if thou marry, thou hast not sinned.”
So he says also of a wife, “if her husband be dead, she is
at liberty to be married to whom she will; only in the
Lord.” This doctrine of St. Paul many of the Reformers
were, in Agrippa’s time, asserting against celibacies, that
were not righteous, but conventional, and tended to in-
crease of lust ;—against widowhoods and widowerhoods,
that, in avoiding second marriage as discreditable, fell into
the snares out of which marriage was, among other of its
uses, ordained to keep men’s souls. During the past three
centuries it has been one mark of the growth of civilisation
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that more spiritual views of marriage have arisen, which
may not be truer than those here detailed, in as far as
they do more than include them, but which, nevertheless,
may bring their own fulfilment, and so make of the bond
between some husbands and wives a blessing for eternity.
Such views did not prevail in the sixteenth century;
scarcely had they found any one to express them, even
among poets. But Agrippa’s view of marriage, as his
life thus far has shown, and as his writing testifies, 18
high, and worthy of a Christian. ¢ Man,” he says!, ¢ (since
he is of all animals the most sociable), then only fulfils
truly and rightly the duties of humanity, puts confidence
into his life, and safety into the course of it, when he has
entered into the stable and indissoluble contract of mar-
riage. . . . . For what association between human beings
can be more sacred and pleasant—what safer, more secure ?
what chaster than that between husband and wife ? When
one is as the other, two bodies are conformed to one mind
and a single will. Only they who are wedded envy not
each other, only they know the infinitude of love, when
each depends entirely on the other, and reposes on the
other: when they are one flesh, one mind, in one concord:
having the same sorrow, the same joy: when the worldly
increase of one is the increase of the other, they being
alike in wealth, alike in poverty, resting in one bed, re-
freshed at one table, companions night and day, not
quitting each other for sleep or for watchings; conjoined
through life in the same actions, labours, perils, in all

! H, C. A. de Sacramento Matrimonii, D vi. vii.
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fortune, they do mutual service to each other while they
live. They accompany the one the other to the close
of life; only by death are these companions parted ; and
one dead, scarcely can the other remain living.” This
Agrippa felt when, after Louisa’s death, Brennon was
trembling for him. ¢ Whoever has taken to himself an
only wife,” he says again, “let him cherish her with love
inviolate and constant mindfulness to the last moment of
life; let father, mother, children, brothers and sisters, give
place to her: let the whole concourse of friends give place
to the good-will established between man and wife. Truly,
so should they; for father, mother, children, brothers,
sisters, relatives, and friends, are gifts of nature and of
fortune; man and wife are a mystery of God, and the
husband had the wife, the wife the husband, before father,
mother, brother, children were. . . . . Therefore, no law
prohibits the departure of children from their parents, or
of parents from their children; sometimes necessity com-
pels it, expediency suggests it, reason urges it; often
children are emancipated, often claim for religion’s sake
their liberty, often live as pilgrims absent from their
homes, or build up other homes elsewhere. But that a
wife should depart from her husband, or a husband from
his wife, no law permits, no necessity, no expediency, no
Teason, no repudiation, no religious feeling, no license to
quit. One parted from the other lives a desolate and

solitary life, which must be most unhappy, because it is
led in contempt of the help and joy that God has given,
and that one has dared to spurn.”



90 CORNELIUS AGRIPPA.

The little treatise upon marriage quoted here was written
three or four years after the date (1521) at which this
~ narrative now stands. It expresses faithfully, however,
one of the most constant features of its author’s mind, and
I place here the few passages that have to be quoted from
it in this narrative, because it is in this place that they are
most helpful to the proper comprehension of one aspect
of Agrippa’s life. These are his words again!:—¢ They
sin heavily, whether they be parents, relations, tutors,
guardians, who (not looking to the lifelong good-will,
or to the prospect of children, or to the maintenance of
chastity, but through avarice and ambition, for the dig-
nity of lands, the power of nobility, wealth, or the like)
urge beyond their duty the divine rule of obedience to
parents (by a sort of tyranny), and fettering the free will ,
of their sons or daughters, force them into unwelcome
nuptials; prompted by no reason of age, kindness, con-
dition, manners, love, or any divine precept. Out of
such marriages are bred adultery, dissension, scorn, con-
tinual anger, perpetual scoldings, discords, hatreds, re-
pudiation, and other unending ills. Sometimes there follow
even poisonings, slaughterings, or sudden deaths, so that
not God, but Satan, appears to have joined those pairs
together. Add to this that in many places some princes
and lords of this world, under the name of Christians—foes
to God, blasphemers of the Lord, overturners of the Church,
defilers of things sacred, arrogating to themselves divinity,
—by their arbitration, sometimes even by their command

Y De Sacramento Matrimonii. E, E ii.
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s tyrants, compel the marriages of subjects, taking, more-
over, tithes of the dowries, not without most wicked sacri-
lege, for their private treasuries: thus, leaving adultery
untaxed, they punish marriage. There is, moreover, yet
another custom to condemn, which has grown up in many
nations,—that second marriages are pursued everywhere
with I know not what contempt. Moreover, they levy
a fine of a certain sum on those who marry twice, and
give the money to be devoured by a certain fraternity of
theirs, making Joseph, the husband of the blessed Virgin
Mary, patron of this scorn of a divine mystery. Of this
fraternity the devil was the founder, and the wrath of
God delivers it to its own reprobate sense, which, applaud-
ing fornication, decries second nuptials; as if, destitute of
divine grace, mocking the sacrament, to which is due all
honour, reverence, and freedom.” For having suppressed
this custom in his own dominions, Agrippa praised King
Francis as a Christian king.

“You, therefore”—I am again quoting Cornelius—“you,
therefore, who wish to take a wife, let love be your in-
ducement, not opinion: choose a wife, not a dress; marry
a wife, not a dowry. In this temper having prayed to
the omnipotent God, who alone gives a true wife to man,
having sought also the consent of her parents, and shown
to them a due obedience, putting away all avarice, am-
bition, envy, and fear: with mature self-communing, with
free consent, with fervent but yet chaste and reasonable
love, accept the wife given to you for a perpetual com-
panion, not for a slave, by the hand of God: let your
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wisdom guide her with all gentleness and reverence. Do
not submit her, but admit her to your counsels; let her
be in your house the mistress, in your family the mother.”
Agrippa dwells upon the lessons of good order and go-
vernment in states that are best learnt in families, and
dwells on the unhappiness of all who, except when they
do so for the more exclusive contemplation of celestial
things, live solitary lives. Except death, he allows no
reason whatever for a severance of the marriage tie, beyond
the one asserted in the Gospel as the single cause for
which a man may innocently put away his wife. Finally,
it is urged upon all who are not by impediment of nature
less than men, or more than men by their angelic power
of maintaining an eternal purity, that they have a divine
law to fulfil, a duty to the state and to themselves to per-
form, by marrying, so filling up the round of their own
lives and educating children into righteousness. In passing
from this treatise, I should not omit to say, that in one
passage towards the close of it!, after speaking in un-
measured detestation of men who destroy or wrong their
wives, he points out indignantly, that, while for the lightest
theft men were sent to the gallows, wives might be killed
or wronged to the uttermost by their husbands almost

! De Sacramento Matrimonii. E iv. ¢ Uxoricidia etiam acerbiore morte
quam parricidia vindicantur: et merito, nam parentes natura facit, uxor
Dei mysterium est. Neque eum satis condigna pcena affici posse arbitror, qui
datum sibi a Deo auxilium, et prebitam vite consortem ausus fuerit inte-
rimere: . . . . . sed nescio qua justitie, Deique negligentia uxoricide,
atque adulteri, nunc fere omnem peenam evadunt, fures vel ob leve crimen
fane suspensi necantur, nisi qui traditi judices nostri in reprobum sensum.”



Wy

INTEREST IN CHURCH REFORM. 93

with impunity. Such a blot has remained upon the
public justice of some nations even to the present day.

To Cornelius at Geneva, Brennon wrote word! that the
stone, carved most decently, as ordered by him, had been
placed over the grave of his dear wife. He sent news to
him, received from a friend lately in Cologne, of the well-
being of Agrippa’s sister and mother, added also what he
had last heard about Luther, namely, that he had found
safe shelter in Bohemia, and that his labour was being
carried on by Hutten and Melancthon. He furnished
also some political intelligence, and an account of a
siege close at hand which he himself had witnessed.
The tidings about the Reformers were most interesting to
Agrippa; by the death of his wife previous religious feel-
ings had been deepened, perhaps by the conversion of
some parts of his theology into religion. The influences
at Geneva were all favourable to the development of his
convictions, and their character becomes at this time of
his life more strongly marked. A monk whom he had
known at Metz, and with whom he had talked liberal
things, writes to him from Annecy? that “four cowled
masters of the Dominican faction and (as I believe) perse-
cutors of our faith—I meant to say inquisitors—by some
chance entered my cell a few days since, and among their
discourse fell upon the memory of our most erudite
Erasmus, and after many things said in a sinister way of
him and Luther, they at last vomited out their poison,
babbling that there were now four Antichrists, doctors in

1 Ep. 8, Lib. iii. p, 785. 2 Ep. 9, Lib. iii. p. 786.
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Christ’s kingdom—namely, Erasmus, Luther, Reuchlin,
and Faber Stapulensis. See what men are these syco-
phants who persecute good literature! But the bearer
of this is a man skilled in good literature, singularly
learned, who desires much to speak with you; trust your-
self to him.”

Soon afterwards this friend begs for a copy of Agrippa’s
lucubration against Prior Salini, and wants specially to
know in what way his friend now regards Luther: «I
think,” he says!, “you do not forget how you honoured
me, by showing me at Metz some Lutheran writings, and
that you extolled them with the highest praise.” This
question of opinion was discussed verbally, for the friends
met soon afterwards®; and to a subsequent scruple upon
the subject of obedience to the Church, Cornelius repliess:
“] think you know that a Christian is; of all men, the most
free, but at the same time the most dutiful of servants.”
That answer would surely have been different had he been
greater and stronger than he was. He did not stifle con-
science, he was not a coward; all his life long he had been
asserting his desire for independence, but asserting it in a
too speculative temper.

While practising medicine with little profit at Geneva,
where his late wife’s relations and Eustochius Chappuys,
known for his learning throughout all Savoy?, were among
his most intimate friends, Cornelius was engaged, as to
worldly things, in much negotiation to secure that which

1 Ep, 10, Lib. iii. p. 787. 2 Ep. 11, Lib. iii. p. 788.
3 Ep. 12, Lib. iii. p. 788, + Ep. 10, Lib. iik. p. 787.
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had been offered to him by the Duke of Savoy; and as to
spiritual things, he was entirely occupied with the great
questions of Church reform. To an inquiry about the
Virgin Mary!, founded on an argument drawn from the
rubric, he replied? that “the services of the Church are
of no authority in argument, because they contain many
uncertain things, many doubtful things, many things
empty, feigned or false, many even of which the direct
contrary is what the Church believes; such services are
not to support the integrity of faith, and cannot exercise
the authority of the Church.” He believed it not impos-
sible for the whole Church to become that which a part
of it became. Without any thought whatever of secession,
he was ready to show all the errors that he believed had
crept into its discipline. He was a Lutheran, but through-
out distinctly that which Luther and all his fellow-labour-
ers were at the outset of their course, a faithful member of
the Church in which he saw that so much change had
become necessary. He no more thought of avowing him-
self a heretic, than the citizen of a state, when he demands
some great political reform, thinks of proclaiming himself
alien or outlaw.

The reformer Capito wrote thus from the neighbour-
hood of Basle to Cornelius Agrippa at Geneva®. The
date of his letter is the twenty-third of April, 1522: “A
good man began speaking of you honourably to me on my
journey; he depicted to me a man more learned than any,

! Ep. 18, Lib. iii. p. 788. 2 Ep. 14, Lib, iii. p. 788.
3 Ep. 15, Lib. iii. pp. 789, 790.
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by profession a physician, but of all knowledge at the same
time a cyclopdia, chiefly, however, strong in disputation,
being able with a little finger to arrest the onsets of the
Sophists. I asked the name.

‘¢ Agrippa,’ he said, ¢ native of Cologne, by education
an Italian, by experience a courtier; that is to say, trained
at court, urbane and civil.’

« Almost disturbed by an unexpected pleasure, ¢ What 1’
I said, ¢that physician has a tincture of the German
heresy. Does he repudiate Luther? Does he think with
the most learned Parisians ?’

“Then said he, ¢ Far from it. He can go beyond Luther,
but he cannot oppose him, as that Luther himself has
seen. ”

“Moved by this talk,” Capito went on to relate, I have
written this to you while refreshing myself at the tavern,
whereby you may understand how mindful is Capito of
the kindness you showed him when he was received by
you hospitably at Cologne. But there is matter in the
knowledge of which you are interested—namely, the con-
dition of the Germans. The Lutherans at Wittenberg
have declared as follows: First, they taught that whatever
they thought they perceived of the truth of the Gospel,
they were to express with freedom of speech. I will tell
you a few of their expressions. Whoever, they say, does
not eat meat, eggs, and the like on Fridays, let him not
be called a Christian. Whoever does not take the sacra-
ment of the Eucharist in his hands and finger it, let him
not be esteemed a Christian. Whoever confesses in Qua-
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dragesima, let him not be a partaker of the mercy of God.
‘Whoever thinks good works are anything, closes for him-
self the way of salvation: and much of that character.
They excite the simple crowd, there is a mustering, the
houses of the priests are attacked, force is brought in by
the citizens; thus there is a reverse caused in the opinion
of the vulgar, so that the common cause of the faith, as it
is maintained by Luther and his friends, is brought into
public odium, Learned men wrote to Luther, urging
him to come forward openly to check this. He is now,
therefore, at Wittenberg, where assemblies are being held
daily. He finds fault with his followers, chides those who
have made rash innovations, not regarding the simplicity
of the populace, but at the same time does not omit to
assert what he before asserted. The people now flock
round him, and with patience persevere towards the
liberty of Christ. I wish the nobles understood how
swift and ready is the work of Christianity, and next,
how wide the difference between a seditious innovator
and a patient Christian. . . . . ‘Wherefore, most learned
man, I do not dissuade you from the Gospel, but I rejoice
that you are opposed to the unseasonable ventures of im-
prudent men. But do as you are doing, and carry with
you the gentleness of Christ, even into familiar talk, that
nobody may be able to calumniate your pious purposes.
If anything seem to require candid interpretation, do not
condemn with a malignant scorn. What bitterness did
ever Christ speak ? to what place, I ask, did he carry the
mind of a condemning judge? O preposterous piety, so
VOL. II. H
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morosely pious, that obliterates the very shape of piety,—
never be urged to that! Farewell, and write to me some-
times. At leisure I will write with more deliberation.
Dated in haste from the tavern. Farewell again. Ol-
tingen, near Basle, April 23, 1522.”

Nothing could be clearer than the illustration here sup-
plied of the degree and nature of Cornelius Agrippa’s
sympathy with the Reformers. The inferences it suggests
are all confirmed by the succeeding correspondence.
‘When Capito’s letter was delivered at Geneva, Cornelius
was away from home, at the court of Savoyl, making
vain efforts to secure either a fulfilment or a retractation
of the great man’s promise. When he returned, he wrote
to Capito that if he knew who it was that had spoken so
lovingly of him upon the road, he would send many, many
thanks to him for his good offices, and he wished he might
some day become all he had been painted. The bearer
of his letter he commended to the help of Capito as a -
man needing help, who was just, and a diligent preacher
of the Word of God. In the same way we find by letteis
from friends to Agrippa, that to him also travelling
“ preachers of the Gospel of truth” were, from time to
time, commended as to a man ready to entertain them in °
his house, and help them with his friendship?.

The letter from Wolfgang Fabricius Capito just quoted
was quite characteristic of its writer’s gentleness of way

1 Ep. 18, Lib. iii. p. 791.
* Ep. 16, Lib. iii. p. 790. Ep. 84, Lib. iii. p. 801. Ep. 80, Lib. iii.
p. 829, . )
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and steadfastness of purpose. It was no mean tribute to
the piety and learning of Agrippa that they had the re-
spect of Capito. Capito was by eight years the senior of
Cornelius Agrippa. Born at Hagenau, in Alsatia, he had
studied medicine at Basle to please his father, but on the
-death of his father, while he was still in his student years,
he turned to the study of theology to please himself, and
was in 1504 created doctor in that faculty at Basle. He
then went to Freyburg, in Brisgau, where he taught
scholastic theology, and in the four years next following
he studied jurisprudence under Zase, one of the most
famous jurisconsults of that age. Then, by Philip Rosen-
berg, Bishop of Spire, the young Capito was called to
preach at Bruchsal, in his diocese. While there he be-
came the close friend of (Ecolampadius, who was at Heidel-
berg. At the same time Capito learned Hebrew from a
converted Jew. Called from Bruchsal to Basle, there to
preach in the cathedral, he laid the foundation of the first
Protestant church in that town, and while there, as a
member of the theological faculty, he helped to make
“(Ecolampadius a doctor. From his friendship for (Ecolam-
padius he never swerved; and after his friend’s death
became (in 1524) the husband of his widow: she was
Capito’s first wife. Cardinal Albert of Brandenburg,
Archbishop of Mayence, had called Capito from Basle,
and had appointed him court preacher and chancellor in
the archbishopric. He became at about the same time
doctor of canon law, and on account of his varied know-
ledge and experience, his services were used in many
H2
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weighty state affairs. For the same reason, not long
before the date of the letter to Agrippa lately quoted,
Emperor Charles V. had raised Capito and his entire
family into the order of nobility. His course was not
altered, and when he wrote that letter he had left Mayence,
because he could not introduce into the town any Re-
formed doctrines, and had joined Bucer at Strasburg.
He was a man remarkable for learning, although his
attainments were less varied than Agrippa’s, and he was,
like Agrippa, moderate in his hopes and endeavours for
the reformation of the Church, but, unlike Agrippa, duly
mingling in the actions of his life determined power with
his softer qualities. I heard at Basle,” Cornelius writes
to another friend, “of the work of a certain brother, Jacob
Hochstraten, against Luther, also of another similar work,
issued under the name of the King of England. I should
like them to be sent to me, and any response, if any, of
which Luther may have thought them worthy; whatever
may be their price, I will pay promptly to their bearer.
Finally, I desire to know how the Lutheran matter
prospers with the Germans. If you have occasion to
write to Fabricius Capito, most excellent and true theo-
logian, commend me very greatly to him. I wrote to
him lately, and mean to write more at leisure. The bearcr
of this, a man who studies theology and is a linguist most
eager to master Greek, Hebrew, and Chaldee, by nation
a Scotchman, by profession a Dominican, I commend to
you as to myself. I beg that you will be so good a
helper to him as to show that ours is not a common
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friendship : as for me, I will never fail when I am able to
do anything for you and your friends. Farewell. From
Geneva, September 20, 1522.”

While Agrippa was at Geneva he was correspondmg
with his friend the lawyer Cantiuncula, at Basle!, and he
was also continuing by letters to make interest with those
who might have power to stimulate the Duke of Savoy
and his advisers to increased activity. The Duke had him-
self reopened the protracted negotiations by inviting
Agrippa to him, but on the condition that it should be
left to his Chancellor to settle in what office and at what
salary the philosopher was to be connected with his court ;
he had also admonished Agrippa to look after his own in-
terests, and take care that the Chancellor did not forget him.
But the Chancellor needed much admonition. On the six-
teenth of September, 1522, Cornelius wrote from Geneva
to remind him of these things®; on the same day he wrote
also to a friend of his own residing near the minister, re-
questing that he would help, if possible, in pushing matters
forward, and also asking for his interest on behalf of the
petition of a certain widowS. The letter to the Chancellor
Jjust mentioned went by the hand of the Abbot Bonmont,
of the monastery of Moutiers, the capital of a small prince-
dom in Savoy, the Tarentaise, and this good abbot, who
was appointed to high clerical office in Geeneva, told Cor-
nelius on his return that the Duke had repeated to him his
desire that everything should be settled by the Chancellor,

1 Ep. 20 and 85, Lib. iii. pp. 792, 801.
2 Ep. 21, Lib. iii. pp. 792, 793. 3 Ep. 22, Lib. iii. p. 798.
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who would in a few days be coming to Chambéry, which is
a town of Savoy, distant from Geneva some fifty or sixty
miles. To a friend, therefore, at Chambéry, Agrippa
wrote, requesting him to urge his suit for him, he being
himself, short as the distance was, unable to bear the cost-
of a journey to that town, and the stay there requisite
for the due help of his own causel.

But in the midst of poverty and disappointment he was
unable to live alone. When he wrote that he could not
pay his way from Geneva to Chambéry, he had been only
for a few months married to a second wife, a Swiss maiden,
aged nineteen, of a good Genevese family, whom one of his
friends heard to be rich ; but that friend must have been
greatly misinformed. Cornelius wrote of her, two years
afterwards, to his friend Brennon, as “a maid of noble
birth and of great beauty, who so adapts herself to my
ways that you could not tell that they had not been in the
first instance her own, or know whether either one of us
equals or excels the other in a readiness of love and
homage.” Agrippa’s first wife left him with Aymon, an
only son ; his second wife began at once a steady course
of child-bearing. Within the first two years and a half
she became mother to two sons and a daughter?, after
whom there came others in quick succession.

On the twenty-ninth of September he again ventured
tourge the Chancellor by letter, telling him that the matter
in hand was of less urgency to him than its distinct settle-

! Ep. 24, Lib. iii. p. 794. * Ep. 60, Lib. ii. p. 818.
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ment!. Four days later he wrote to his friend at Cham-
béry, urging the misery and waste of the continual delay?®.
He had been kept two years in suspense, trusting to the
Duke’s promise, spending his money, and receiving in
return only sweet words, letting birds escape while chasing
flies. In the middle of that September he had been offered
favours by the royal house of France; but although free
to serve France, he looked to Savoy for more congenial
patronage. He did not wish to die of hope. The promises
of Savoy must be either fulfilled or retracted®. His friend
promptly replied that he had spoken earnestly to the
Chancellor, who appeared chilly in the matter, and less
friendly to Agrippa than his virtues merited*. He pro-
mised to make fresh endeavours, and to write again in
three or four days, advising Cornelius in the mean time
to urge the Chancellor again by letter.

In the next despatch to his friend, Agrippa writes that his
business is moving “ sgris pedibus” and making good the
omen of his name, but that he trusts in help from others,
being, as he had before said, unable to go to Chambéry
himself, even if the whole issue of the case depended on
his presence’. A few weeks after this, salary and honour-
able consideration being offered to Cornelius as its
physician by ‘the mountain town of Friburg, that offer
was accepted, and an end was made of the expectations
that the Duke of Savoy had excited®.

' Ep. 25, Lib. iii. p. 795. 2 Ep, 26, Lib. iii. p. 795.
3 Ep. 24, Lib. iii. p. 794. + Ep. 29, Lib. iii. p. 796.
% Ep. 82, Lib. iii. p. 799.  © Ep. 89 and 55, Lib. iii. pp. 805, 813.
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The venerable Abbot Bonmont, from the monastery
at Moutiers, who had become at Geneva a high church
‘authority, was a warm friend to Agrippa and his family.
He had become godfather to one of his children, thus
taking a position which in those days gave him an artificial
tie of relationship to Agrippa’s wife. The tie was so
distinct that matrimony was unlawful between man and
woman, one of whom had at a former time been sponsor
for the other’s child. The good name and credit of this
abbot extended to Friburg, and helped to increase there
the cordiality of the reception given to Cornelius. The
same abbot retained also at Geneva his friend’s first
son, Aymon, and took friendly charge for a time both of
his maintenance and of his education.

Bonmont had great faith both in the moral and in-
tellectual power of Agrippa. Thereis a letter extant,
written by Cornelius at his desire for the admonition and
help of a young student!, the gist of which is that the
pupil was to learn rightly from the righteous, because
time was lost in listening to the depraved ; that he could
not be learned without Greek, or eloquent without Latin ;
that he should cultivate a wide field, but since the whole
field of knowledge was more than a single man could
travel over, he should read especially two authors, Pliny
in Latin, and Plutarch in Greek. These, more than any
others, could be made sufficient to render a man learned
in all sorts of sciences and in each necessary language;
only, above all things, he exhorted to the close study of

! Ep. 81, Lib. ii. p. 797.
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sacred literature.—We find also that Agrippa, poor as he
was, contrived in Switzerland to show himself not want-
ing in the observance—so essential in those days—of
hospitality!, and he was hospitable not only to the tra-
veller, but also glad when he could spend some hours in
Jjoyous social intercourse with learned friends. His nature
was affectionate, and spent its kindness upon more than
men and women, also upon animals. He is said to have
been almost foolish in his good-will towards dogs.

Of course there came also to the dwelling of the poor
philosopher at Geneva and Friburg letters of compliment,
to tell him of the barren honours he had won. Claude
Blancherose, a French physician, who afterwards pub-
lished a book on the Epidemics of his time, wrote to
Cornelius Agrippa Latin letters full of euphuism, speckled
with verse of his own making, epigrams, tetrastiches, and
decastiches?. They are long letters, meaning well, and
labouring obviously to earn for their writer the respect and
good-will of a man noted for his learning. John Lau-
rentin of Lyons, preceptor of St. Antony’s at Rivolta,
who had introduced Agrippa to the town of Metz, seems
to have introduced him also to Blancherose, who begs
leave to be Pylades to his Orestes, Hegesippus to his
Titus. One long letter this friend despatches, full of
laboured verse, dating it “from Amnaise, swifter than
light, more quickly than asparagus is cooked”—an old
Augustan saying; in the next, which is to go swifter

1 Ep. 28, Lib. iii. p. 796, and the letters already referred to illustrative

of his hospitality towards travelling ministers of the Gospel.
2 Ep. 86 and 37, Lib, iii. pp. 801-804.
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than wind, he lauds his Orestes as a man who has come
into the labyrinth of this world “not without the clue.”
And yet he knows—every friend of Agrippa knows—
how in the labyrinth of the world he has been long
astray : he knows it well enough to see an opportunity of
quoting in this letter the text, Yet have I never seen the
righteous forsaken, nor his seed begging bread.

The removal from Geneva to Friburg, in the beginning
of the year 1523, indicated some slight increase of pros-
perity. Friburg was but a small Swiss mountain fortress,
with a narrow-streeted town attached to it, and scarcely
could pay a high salary to its physician. We know how
slender was the payment made by small Italian towns to
the physician attached to their service!; it was, indeed,
not greater than that which would be now offered in
England to a parish surgeon, and retained his services not
for the poor alone. It would be more correct to find a
parallel as to principle for these appointments of physicians
in the appointment, by communities, of men who were to
be their spiritual pastors. Agrippa was received in the
best spirit at Friburg, both by magistrates and people;
they were a hardy, warrior race, but noted for kindness
and hospitality. Their treatment of Agrippa was not
only courteous, but, considering their means, munificent,
and in their town, as in Geneva—always, in short, while
in Switzerland—Cornelius, however little money he might
earn, had only kindness to acknowledge, and was held

! Lifs of Jerome Cardan (1854), vol. ii. pp. 154, 155,
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always in generous esteem'. At Metz and Cologne all
had been antagonism ; at Friburg and Geneva all was in
sympathy with his desire for freedom of opinion and
action. Twice, as we have seen, he connected himself by
marriage with the natives of Geneva. As a scholar, Italy
was the land of his desire; but as a man, he was at home
in Switzerland, and never in his whole life was he so well
honoured by his neighbours as in these his days of a sore
poverty among the Swiss. His friend the Abbot Bon-
mont wrote to him from Geneva, soon after his change of
abode, “ As for our little son Aymon, I wish you to be
under no anxiety about him, for he is to me as my own
son, and no help or labour of mine shall be wanting to
train the boy in the right way and make a man of him?”

All thoughts of Savoy had been abandoned ; but there
was still temptation offered by the court of France that
might bring down from his spare diet and happiness in the
Swiss mountains a man conscious of the position that he
had a right to take among the most polished, and warned
also that he had the prospect of a large family of children
to support out of such worldly means as he could compass.
In one of his first letters, written after settlement at
Friburg—it is to Christopher Schelling of Lucerne, who
still has, or is supposed to have, the manuscript of Com-
mentaries on St. Paul—we find that Agrippa happens to,
have gone to Berne, and has there met with an old
Parisian comrade of his student days, Godfrey Brullart,

1 Ep. 88, 89, and 55, Lib. iii. pp. 804, 805, 813.
2 Ep. 389, Lib. iii. p. 805.
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-become a royal treasurer, who is staying at the house of
the General Nurbeck. He has offers to make to Schelling,
and no doubt has played the tempter to Agrippa too.
%My commencement of Commentaries on Paul, and other
things left with you, I trust, are safe,” Agrippa says.
Afterwards, on the eighth of June, in this year, 1523, he
writes to Schelling of his wife’s impending confinement,
and of his close occupation upon pressing and important
business by the magistrates of Friburg!, who would thus
seem to have made use of his skill, not only as a physician,
but to have availed themselves also in other ways of his
extensive knowledge. This tended, no doubt, to the im-
provement of his salary.

While falling into affectionate correspondence with his
friend at Lucerne, he attacks merrily his friend Cantiun-
cula, at Basle, for stinting him in letters. He has been
to Basle, and there, at supper with Cantiuncula, has met
Erasmus, and his talk over the supper-table has dwelt on
the mind of Erasmus pleasantly, so that he speaks after-
wards with admiration in his household of the rare gifts
of Agrippa. In the household of Erasmus is a youth who
had once courted Agrippa’s good-will with some specimens
of Latin verse, and being admitted to his friendship—a
thing not hard to acquire—writes to him about these
things?.

Many good friends were made in Switzerland, and at
Friburg the physician had a cordial patron in a citizen,

! Ep. 40, Lib, iii. p. 805. 2 Ep. 44, Lib. iii. p. 806.
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John Reiff, who loved all learned men; occult studies, too,
were cheerfully resumed. Copies of the work on Magic had
been circulating among learned acquaintances; additions
were made to it, and it was further lent!. The use of the
printing-press being comparatively new, there still re-
mained in Europe much of the old plan of circulating
books in manuscript; and we must remember this while
noticing the reputation for great learning that Agrippa
had acquired by this time, although he had issued nothing
from the press. Much of his writing was known widely
as writing, and his familiarity with many languages and
many sciences, as well as his known habit of experiment-
ing, were sufficient to assure him very high respect.

He had not forgotten Roger Brennon, but after a long
time had ceased to send him letters, because answers never
were returned. It afterwards appeared that Brennon’s
correspondence had been intercepted by the orthodox of
Metz, and that letters to and from Cantiuncula, when he
was with his family, had been also stopped®. To a friend
who had accepted office at Metz, and was proceeding thither
from Basle, he sent a letter by a preacher of the Gospel,
Thomas Gyrfalcus, whom he commended with the greatest
earnestness to his faithful protection. He sent to Brennon,
curate of St. Cross, his greetings, and announced—writing
on the fifth of January, 1524—that the cloud had passed
over his fortunes, and that he was about to return into

! Ep. 55 and 56, Lib. iii. pp. 812-814.

2 Ep. 45 (which is from Cantiuncula, and misplaced in the printed series),
Ep. 62, Lib. iii. p. 819,
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Francel. Many of his old friends in Paris and Lyons had
been helping him, and were desirous to have him among
them. He was offered court favour, and the honourable
position of physician to the queen-mother. Tempted,
then, by France, in March or April, 1524, he quitted
Friburg, leaving behind him none but persons who re-
spected him—true friends and patrons, genuine, though
poor. Offers had been made to him also on behalf of the
Duke of Bourbon; these he had refused, and he had
also used successfully his influence to take with him into
the service he himself adopted certain young captains, his
relatives, who had a following of not less than four
thousand soldiers®. On the third of May he was at
Lyons with his family; looking back lovingly to Fri-
burg, enjoying the good-will of his old French com-
rades who gathered round, possessed of a few gold
pieces from the treasury wherewith to pay the cost of
establishing his household, and in daily expectation of a
messenger who was to come to him with payment of his
first year’s salary. So he wrote to the Abbot Bonmont,
his son’s teacher and friend, and begged him to instruct a
person in charge of some tables of his to take care of
them, because in a short time he would send money to pay
for their conveyance into Frances.

! Ep. 52, Lib, iii. p. 810. 2 Ep. 42, Lib. iv. p. 881.
* Ep. 58, Lib. iii. p. 816.
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CHAPTER VI

ACCEPTING OFFERS FROM THE ROYAL FAMILY OF FRANCE, CORNELIUS
REMOVES TO LYONS—AS A COURT PHYSICIAN HE GROWS RICH IN
PROMISES.

THE queen-mother was Louisa of Savoy—it was still,
therefore, from the house of Savoy that Cornelius was re-
ceiving promises of favour. At the first glance, also, we
notice this unpromising condition of his case—his pa-
troness was a strict Catholic, with a strong tendency to
persecution of Reformers.

During the period of Agrippa’s separation from the
greater bustle of political events, a new complication had
been arising, which we shall find presently exerting an
important influence over his fortunes. The year 1520 had
been the year of the Field of the Cloth of Gold. In that
. year war between Charles and Francis, the successful and
the unsuccessful candidate for the succession to the empjre,
appeared probable. In the year following, the injustice of
the court at Paris, bred out of intrigues, created dis-
turbances in Italy. Slight was put upon the Constable de
Bourbon by his recal from Milan, war burst into life, and



112 CORNELIUS AGRIPPA.

the French were once more driven from Italian soil.
This might not have been the case if the avarice of the
queen-mother, Louisa of Savoy, Duchess of Angouléme,
had not led her to embezzle money destined for the army. -
Four hundred thousand crowns, that should have been
sent as the pay of the Swiss, went to her private purse,
and Semblangay, the treasurer, who, in the year following,
confessed to whom the money had been paid, was followed
pertinaciously by Queen Louisa’s hatred, until five years
afterwards it gained its end and brought him to the
~ gibbet. Pope Leo was dead, and his successor was Pope
Adrian, a friend to Charles V. '

In the year 1523, that is to say, during the last year of
Agrippa’s residence in Switzerland, Charles Duke of -
Bourbon had been alienated finally from his allegiance to
the ‘crown of France. The previous Duke had left a
daughter, named Suzanne, inheriting much land, and
Charles had joined her possessions to the dukedom by
contracting marriage with her. When she died, the
queen-mother, considering the Duke to be a handsome
man—his age was only thirty-four—and knowing that
his territories were desirable, proposed to marry him, as
plainly as queen can, and also claimed inheritance of so
much of his duchy as came to him from his deceased wife,
byyright of her own descent in the female line from one
of the past dukes. The age of her majesty was forty-
seven. Charles of Bourbon would not marry her, and
had to bear therefore the anger of a slighted woman.
The queen-mother retaliated at once by a claim on the
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whole Bourbonnais. Now the Duke knew that King
Francis loved him little, because he was cold and grave,
and soberly attached to business; a man so little dis-
‘posed to bear frivolous jokes as to be called at court
the Prince of Small Endurance. He saw reason to fear
the queen-mother’s influence over her son, and was thus
driven to seek help from counterplots. Charles the Fifth,
losing no time in the use of what he held to be his oppor-
tunity, promised Bourbon his own sister in marriage, with’
various advantages, if he would attach himself to the
imperial cause, and originate in France civil dissension.
Bourbon hesitated, but stung by the progress of the court -
intrigues, towards the close of the year he consented, and
but a very few months before Agrippa came to Lyons
he had fled from his own country with a single attendant,
leaving the Bourbonnais to be immediately confiscated,
and gone over to the enemies of Francis. _

In the spring of the year 1524, when Cornelius came
to Lyons as ‘physician to Louisa of Savoy, a campaign
was reopened in the Milanese, and Bourbon began in
concert with Italians to operate successfully against his
countrymen. It has been long remarked of this revolt of
Bourbon, that it affords the first modern example of a
strong opposition of the sentiment of patriotism to the
alliance of a great prince with the enemy of his king,
when such a king has done or is about to do him wrong.
Until with the revival of letters Greece and Rome in-’
stilled into educated men their strict views of the duty
owing to ong’s country, and of the sacrifices that become

VOL. 1L I
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the patriot, certainly it was not in France that any ab-
stract sentiment existed to restrain princes and dukes
from forming what alliances they found most profitable
when at enmity with an offending sovereign. Bourbon’s
revolt was the first of great note that occurred after the
change made by the revival of letters in the public feeling
of society. He found opinion everywhere against him;
he was not received cordially even among his chosen
allies, and he lived in his camp as a morose soldier among
his troops, the only men who had a solid faith in him, s
rough but friendly master, who took care to find them
opportunities of plunder that should more than cover
their deficiencies of pay. :

Of the state of affairs here ‘described, Agrippa had, of
course, when he went to Lyons, only an imperfect and
one-sided view. It was not until several months afterwards -
that the queen-mother, become regent during her som’s
captivity in Spain, showed to the world the full strength
of her disposition to deal cruelly with the Reformers.
Had Agrippa known in what way Queen Louisa’s pas-
sions were involved in the affront of Bourboa to the
crown, had he known only the shallowness of her religion
and the depth of her bigotry, he would have known the
gtep to be a false ome that took him,’a German and an ad-
vocate of church reform, from the true fellowship and
favour of Swiss burgomasters to the service of Louisa of
‘Savoy. But as it was, he held it ta be good advancement
in the world to have become a queen’s physician.

As a fortunate man he was congratulated by bis friends,
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though one of them wrote that if, as one attached to the
French court, he exchanged doctor’s cap for helmet, and
rode with his spear in the Italian wars, it was to be hoped
he would not ride against a Swiss friend ranged upon the
side of Bourbon!. Agrippa had no thought of taking
active part in war. Before anything was settled with the
queen-mother he received the titles of a man attached
directly to the court, as counsellor?, and took part at
Lyons in such public business as belonged to his position.
The communication with his old friend Brennon was re-
opened and secured. To him Cornelius had sent, in letter
after letter, confidential details on the subject of his
worldly efforts and achievements; none ever reached
their destination, or came back into the writer’s handss.
He had had death again in his house. Of the three
children born to him by his second wife, before the end
of August, 1524, two, both of them sons, survived ; the
other child, a daughter, died. Brennon replied* with
sympathy, and this piece of good news: “ A woman here
died lately, who bequeathed to me a press and all things
necessary to the printer’s art, at which I shall be able to
work as I get leisure.” Cornelius® answered to this: “I
wish you had my little works, that you might print them ;
but I have no scribe, and possess mo moze than single
eopies. I will get duplicates of some and send them you
to print, beginning with the Apelogy against that calum-

! Ep. 59, Lib. iii. p. 817. 2 Ep. 68, Lib. iii. p. 823.
3 Ep. 60, Lib, iii. p. 818; and for the next facts.
4 Ep. 61, Lib. iii. p. 818, 819, 5 Ep. 62, Lib. iii. p. 819.
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nious Dominican. The brute is in this town, but nearly
muzzled, and disliked by all his own companions. These
tumults of war are a great hindrance and damage to me.
I depend wholly on their issue. If they end well for the
King, I am fortunate; if ill, I am almost lost.” In another
letter to the Abbot Bonmont, Agrippa wrotel, after
some warm recognition of his generosity to Aymon: “In
answer to your inquiry about my fortunes, certainly I am
rich in promises from the King himself and other pringes ;
but these wars, for the most part, snatch away from me
the fruits of their munificence.” He wrote this after he
had been living for six months at Lyons upon barren
honours.

At about the same time another glimpse was offered to
him of a way to get his books before the world. A friend
at Basle sent him a letter?, by the brother-in-law of the
great typographer, John Frobenius, with a message from
Frobenius, requesting that he would explore the oldest
libraries in Lyons, and see -whether they contained any
codices of Pliny’s history, especially the later books. If
he found any he was to send them by the bearer, who
would find whatever surety was required for the safe
keeping of the manuscript. “I discussed with Frobe-
nius,” the friend added, “ about your work against the
Dominican Monk, as well as about the printing of your
complete works. He says that-when they are sent to him
he will take care that no one of them shall be found to
meet with less consideration than is well and fairly due.”

! Ep. 63, Lib. ii. p. 820. 2 Ep. 64, Lib. iii. p. 821.
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Cornelius, at Lyons, belonged not only to the courtiers,
but also to a cheerful literary circle!; he was pursuing a
variety of studies ; had been improving himself in astro-
logy?; and among other sciences was studying the Cabala
still, and beginning to work at the books of Raymond
Lully>. He was courted by learned strangers; young
scholars wrote to him soliciting his friendship*. Those
who had been in his household always turned to him—
though they could anger him sometimes—with confident
affection. We have found him just now telling Brennon
that he was without a scribe. The person who had been
serving him in that capacity had been taken ill upon a
joumey, and was laid up with stone in the bladder.
Seeing no hope of speedy,return to his duties, he peti-
tioned that his brother might be taken in his places.

The renewed wars closed many an old channel of com-
munication, and the Abbot Bonmont being hostile to
France, and associating with the enemies of France,
although old friendship remained unabated, and Corne-
lius expressed constant reverence for his warm friend,
free interchange of thought by letters between them
ceased to be possible®. In June, 1525, Cornelius sent for
his son Aymon by a messenger, who was to bring him,

! Ep. 66, Lib. iii. p. 821. A piece of good-humoured denunciation for
Agrippa’s having promised an Aristotle to the writer and not having made
his promise good. :

2 Ep. 56 and Ep. 57, Lib. iii. pp. 813-816.
* Ep. 67 and Ep. 75, Lib. iii. pp. 822 and 826.
4 As in Letters 78 and 77 of Book iii.

8 Ep. 66, Lib. iii. pp. 821, 822.
¢ Ep. 68, Lib, iii. p. 823 ; and for the next facts.
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if the kind priest thought it well for him to rejoin his
father. He was then expecting daily to have his future
settled, and a home appointed for him by his mistress,
either at Tours, Orleans, or Paris. The Abbot repliedl,
that Aymon should be sent home when the weather be-
came cooler ; but that he was of too tender age for a long
journey under summer heat. The same reply offered
congratulations on the subject of a second letter? from
Cornelius, written on the twenty-fourth of July, to an-
nounce that his wife had recently given birth to a third
son,—so that he had now four children, all of them boys,
—and that the infant had profited by his relation to the
court, in having the Cardinal de Lorraine for a godfather,
and for godmother the Dame de Saint Prie. The queen-
mother and her court were then at Lyons; she was
Regent, and King Francis was a prisoner in Spain. In
the middle of the previous October siege had been laid to
Pavia. In January no progress had been made; Bour-
‘bon, however, having raised an army on his own account,
had procured money from the Duke of Savoy, and
marched to relieve the besieged city early in the year.
On the twenty-third of February, King Francis, defeated
by Bourbon, was taken prisoner, and given to the keep-
ing of his rival at Madrid. Louisa, Duchess of Angou-
18me, became Regent of France during his absence. At
the beginning of August, soon after the birth of Agrippa’s
infant, the queen-mother was leaving Lyons with her

! Ep. 78, Lib. iii. p. 828,
* Ep. 76, Lib. iii. p. 827 ; see also Ep. 79,Lib iil. p. 828.
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dsughter to visit Spain, on behalf of the captive. In-
stead of carrying her new physician with her, she bade him
remain at Lyons, without settling there, until her return,
when she would be at leisure, she said, to determine
where his domestic establishment was to be fixed. It
wzs to be in some town of the interior of France, so that
he might be at hand for the performance of his duties!.
He was not the richer for having been flattered, while
the whole court was at Lyons, with a distinguished god-,
father and godmother for his infant; such things only
mduced him—and perhaps were by the Queen meant to
mduce him—to consent longer to exist, as his wits enabled
him, on the mere royal promise of a salary.

The queen-mother was avaricious; war absorbed public
money, and Agrippa, there can be no doubt, suffered de-
lsys and slights because there was a stain upon his cha-
racter.’ “Does he repudiate Luther? Does he think
with the most learned Parisians?” Capito’s playful
doubt whether that physician was not tinctured with
the German heresy, echoed the saying of the ortho-
dox against Agrippa, and such questioning told heavily
upon his fortunes, Because of this, no doubt the
Duke of Savoy’s chancellor had dallied with his hopes,
and paid & cold attention to his claims; because of this,
the queen-mother was hesitating about the fulfilment
of her promises, while his inquiries into occult science, and
his books of magic, that a few had seen, enabled the
priests already in & very slight degree to taint his name,

1 ¥p. 9, Lib. iv. p. 838.
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by attaching to it some of the disrepute connected with
forbidden studies.

But Cornelius was still in active sympathy with the
Reformers. There was a letter written to him in May,
1525, by a reformer in Lorraine!, a hot partisan in the
controversyupon the Eucharist. Luther believed that there
was something like real presence in the sacramental bread
and wine; Zuinglius taught what is now commonly be-
lieved by Protestants, and a fierce strife existed on this
subject. To the zealous partisan, Agrippa replied quietly?,
stating what books he had himself been able to obtain
upon the subject, and expressing his desire to see all
others, except such as had been written by the Sophists.
But the most perfect revelation of Agrippa’s attitude
towards the orthodox Church, at a time when he was
awaiting at Lyons the fulfilment of the promises of the
queen-mother, is contained in the following letter ad-
dressed to him by Zuinglius or Bucer?: ¢ Although most
busy, I have nevertheless wished to send you enough
writing to prevent you from believing that you are for-
gotten. Lately the most learned Papilio wrote to me
salutations in your name. The whole church of the
saints established here has rejoiced very vehemently at
hearing the fruit of the Word among the courtiers, as
well as throughout nearly all France. We also glorify
the Lord for the constancy of Macrinus, servant of God.
I have written to many, concerning the glory of the Word

" 1 Ep, 69, Lib. iii. pp. 823, 824. 2 Ep. 71, Lib, iii. pp. 824, 825.
3 Ep, 82, Lib. iii. pp. 829, 830.
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among you, letters which I doubt not have been commu-
nicated to you. I bless the Lord that you remain always
the same, namely, a lover of the truth; by following in
that course we are happier than by all things else; for
what is to compare with truth? I wish it were in my
power to come into France, that I might not be always
dumb. The Lord’s will be done. I pine, I confess, at
being so long silent. I doubt not that you know of my
having taken a wife” (Zuinglius had married a noble
widow, Anne Richartin, in the year preceding, Bucer
had married a nun two years before), “and perhaps
you have seen my book on Marriage. Christ gave a son
to us on the twenty-ninth of November. My sister is
still expectant of a child. The boy, named Isaac, is well.
Pray that he may live to the glory of God, and that I may
teach him to separate himself to the utmost from anti-
christ and the vain fictions of men. We endure much
poverty, for all thingsare at the dearest, and I am weighed
down by many debts. The brethren at the court, and
you, perhaps, among them, sent me twenty gold ducats.
Help never came at better time. In all things blessed be
the name of the Lord who helps us, and is powerful to set
us free from poverty so urgent. Isend thanks to all who
gave and helped me in my poverty. My little wife
salutes you, and we both of us salute your wife in the
Lord. I shall be glad if all things prosper with you.
Our whole church salutes you, through Christ, Capito
especially; and for you and all brethren we entreat happi-
ness from the Lord. Make men, as far as you are able,
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well disposed towards me. Write what is done at Genews,
that is to sy, whether they love the Word; let there be
sometimes letters exchanged between us. Grace and
peace from our Lord Jesus Christ be with your spirit.
Strasburg, the last day of December, 1525.”

By an -obvious mistake this letter has been printed in
Agrippa’s works as one sent from Agrippa to a friend.
The tone of thought, the style, the facts contained in
ity all seem to me to declare Zuinglius the writer. Not
only had Zuinglius his marriage to announce, but the
tractate on Marriage to which he refers was, at the date
when this letter was written, the last thing published by
him. It had appeared earlier in the same year, and was
an address to the Swiss in reply to an outery made against
himself for having joined a husbandman in wedlock to
& womsan who stood to him in the relation of godmother
to one of his children ; this tie of commaternity, or com-
paternity, as it was called, having been held by the
Church, but being repudiated by Zuinglius, as a bar to
marriagel. Buoer was head of the Reformed Church at
Strasburg. '

It was at this time that Cornelius wrote and dedicated
to the King’s sister, Margaret of Valois, his tractate on
the Sacrament of Marriage®. She was clever, spiritual,
ekilled in languages, favourably disposed towards the
clevernese of the Reformers, and a skilful inventor of tales,
then amusing, and not more immoral than some sermons

t Operem D. Huldricki Zwingli, vigilantissini Tigurine Eoclosics Antiotiis,
Partes iii. &. & Tiguri Ezc. C. Froschover, 1581. Pars Prima, fol

151-154.
2 Ep. 1, Lib, iv. p. 881,
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of the time, but certainly remarkable to men of these
days for their looseness. She was then thirty-four years
old, and had become somewhat recently a widow by the
death of Charles Duke of Alencon. As awidow she had
been to comfort in his prison at Madrid King Francis, her
brother, to whom she was much attached; she had gone
charged by the queen-mother with plemary powers to
negotiate, and it had been hoped that she might, by her
fascinations, conquer the heart of a satumine emperor.
That visit to Madrid had been paid in the previous year.
The journey to Bayonne with the queen-mother was far
the purpose of meeting the King on his liberation, and
conveying his two eldest sons as hostages to Spain. Mar-
garet of Valois was quite ready to marry again, and wes,
indeed, in the year following, espoused to Henri d’ Albret,
King of Navarre. To this princess, then, Agrippa fekt
that he should do well to dedicate his treatise upon Mar-
riage, the substance of which has been in this narrative
already described. He sent it to a learned friend and
correspondent, one of the King’s physicians, John Chape-
lain, to be presented to her highness. Chapelain very
soon found that it was & clumsy compliment. Let any
one compare the tone of Margaret’s diverting tales with
the ‘unbending morality of this discussion on the Sacra-
ment of Marriage, and it will be evident that, honest a8
her life was, such a lecture as Cornelius wished to present
Tan no little risk ofbemgacceptedas a rebuke against her
daily conversation.

%] will see to your pension,” wrote Chapelain’, —who

" 1 Ep, 2, Lib. iv. p. 832.
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was a kindly man, clever enough to justify the printing
of the only work of his that came before the public, A
Medical Opinion on the Plague, in the same volume
with the Medical Opinions of a man so famous as Fernel!,
—“I will see to your pension; but the matter is not likely
to be settled yet, for in such matters the Queen is apt to
be slow. However, we shall soon be coming to Paris,”
he wrote from Bordeaux on the second of April; “now,
if I understand rightly, we are to return to Lyons, be-
cause the most Christian King has to accomplish a vow
made while in Spain to the Holy Napkin at Chambéry;
in Paris I have no doubt your affair can be settled, in the
mean time I will do my part as a friend when opportunity
arises. Some who are nevertheless accounted Christians,
little approve of that work of yours upon Marriage on
account of certain passages contained in it, and they who
object are people who speak often with the Princess.
Therefore, fearing lest I might bring you more hurt
than honour, I have deferred the presentation. Never-
theless, if you bid me, I will give it.”

The poor scholar made a manful answer®: “ You write,
my dear friend Chapelain, that there are some persons
at_court who are numbered among the wise, and who
speak often with the Princess, who little approve my de-
clamation upon Matrimony. Fearing, therefore, lest it
may bring me into more contention than commendation,
you have deferred offering that little treatise to their
highnesses until you had again consulted me. Hear now,

! See Jerome Cardan (1854), vol. ii. pp. 100-104.
* Ep. 8, Lib. iv. pp. 882, 833.
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therefore, my opinion. Among the masters at court there
are some who write filthy and dirty jests, lewd comedies,
songs steeped in lust, and pestilent books that dishonour
the name of love. There are some, also, who translate such
writings into sundry languages. And books of this sort
are received without offence as gifts by ladies; the tales of
Boceaccio, the jests of Poggio Bracciolini, the adultery of
Euryalus and Lucrece, the wars and loves of Tristan and
Lancelot, and the like, by reading of which women are
made familiar with wickedness, are greedily read even by
girls. Whoever is most deeply read in such works, can
quote fragments of them, and talk about them fluently
and often with her wooers, comes to be called a true lady
of the court. I wonder, then, that our discreet and very
witty censors, who make often so great a tragedy out of
a trifle, not merely suppress their objection to such
writings, but also read, translate, expound, and occupy
themselves about them, even though they may be bishops,
chief maintainers of religion, like that Bishop of Angou-
1éme, who has turned Ovid’s amatory letters into French.
Such priests of their mysteries have our court ladies, of
whom, since they have never learnt from good authors,
and have not a morsel of right training, how can I expect
that they will like such a work as this of mine, so utterly
at odds with their established ways? Nevertheless, boldly
offer to them these little books” (separate copies, it would
seem, one for the Princess, one for the queen-mother),
“nor think that your Agrippa, whose name some read
ZAigris Pedibus, lame-footed, is so gouty that he cannot
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place foot against foot in combat with those wise court
censors. I am not yet so destitute of the arms of honest
study, that I cammot both defend this writing and con-
found its adversaries. A most happy farewell to you.
From Lyons, May 1, 1526.”

There is not a syllable oo ‘much of emphasis in this
letter, in the tone of which we find, not only the purity
of soul which marks the whole life of Agripps, but a
little also of the voice of & man whose heart is with the

Swiss Reformers.
~ The treatise upon Marriage, written in Latin, had been
also translated into French!; and during this month of
May we find its author very busy in dispersing copies of
it, and defending it among his friends. Oneis sent to a
friend Conrad at Chambéry, with a request for Ptolemy’s
Cosmography, which Conrad had been promising to lend
him. Martin the painter, however, had the Ptolemy?
had borrowed it eight manths before, and there was a
question whether it would ever be returned. “I never
break my promsises,” says Conrad, “so I will get you a
new copy. In the mean time, rheumatism tortures me to
madness. Can you tell me of a remedys?” By no
means get me a new Ptolemy,” Cornelius replies; “ I can
wait very well for Martin.” And he sends an enclosure
of elaborate preseriptions, capping them with & secret and
sure remedy that must be told to o ome else. And all
this time Cornelins is reduced even to bare want, by the

! Ep. 4, Lib. iv. p. 833. 2 Ep. 5; Lib. iv. p. 834.
® Ep. 11, Lib. im pp 830, 840,
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impossibility of getting the first instalment of his promised
salary from Martin of Troyes, the treasurerl. Since the
Queen left for the frontier, he tells Chapelain, every good
thing he had has flown out of his Pandora’s box, except
his hope, and that has its wings almost full-grown. Cha-
pelain is attached to the Queen’s suite, and he must see
what can be done; “Go to her,” says Agripps, laughing
over his distress, “fasten upon her, ‘seize her, ask her,
«conjure her, compel her, torment her: add prayers, en-
treaties, complaints, sighs, tears, and whatever else there
is by which people are stirred.” He himself writes a letter
to her by that messenger, and asks his friend to take care
that his letter, of which he sends a copy to him, isnot lefs
unread. Above all, he wants treasurer Barguyn to be
made to send a letter to his subaltern, Martin of Troyes,
and command the payment of Agrippa’s salary that he is
holding back. If not paid, he shall become one letter
more than medicus, which sorry joke being interpreted,
means that he must become mendicus, a beggar.

But still hope, fast as her wings were growing, kept
them folded. Cornelius maintained a cheerful spirit, and
was somewhat assisted in the effort by the small distrac-
tion that arose from the objections to his declammation upon
Marriage. To Michael d’ Arandia? the recently appointed
Bishop of St. Paul-Trois-Chéteaux, in Dauphiné, he sent
am explanation upon two points, chiefly urged against him
by the theological objectors to his essay. They were

! Ep. 6, Lib. iv. pp. 834, 835; and for what follows.
2 Ep. 7, Lib. iv. pp. 835, 886.
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trifling, and need not be dwelt upon. At about this time
also there seem to have been persons about the court
who wished to be amused or edified by his skill in occult
study, and had asked him for some astrological predictions.
He accordingly sent Chapelain a calculation of the stars
duly made out, with a double interpretation, so that he
might let the courtiers see how he could profit by their
folly. ¢« Why,” he asked in this letter!, “do we trouble
ourselves to know whether man’s life and fortune depend,
on the stars? To God, who made them and the heavens,
and who cannot err, neither do wrong, may we not leave
these things,—content, since we are men, to attain what
is within our compass, that is to say, human knowledge ?
But since we are also Christians and believe in Christ, let
us trust to God our Father hours and moments which are
in His hand. And if these things depend not on the
stars, astrologers, indeed, run a vain course. But the race
of man, so timorous, is readier to hear fables of ghosts and
believe in things that are not, than in things that are.
Therefore, too eager in their blindness, they hurry to learn
secrets of the future, and that which is least possible (as
the return of the deluge) they believe the most; so, also,
what is least likely they believe most readily of the astrolo-
gers, as that the destinies of things are to be changed by
planning from the judgments of astrology—a faith that,
beyond doubt, serves to keep those practitioners from
hunger.” v

All this shows into what form Agrippa’s mind has

! Ep. 8, Lib. iv. pp. 837, 838.
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ripened. It was two years since King Francis, when he
went to relieve Marseilles, besieged by Bourbon at the
outset of the war, promised the pension, of which, except
a gift for travelling expenses, not a coin had been received.
The King went into captivity. The captain charged by
the King with the execution of his will was dead; but
there were others, as the Seneschal of Lyons (godfather
to one of Agrippa’s children), witnesses to his command.
Attached to the queen-mother as physician, he was look-
ing in vain to her for his salary; but she had destroyed
his means by charging him to stay at Lyons, without fix-
ing himself in a home there, until she was ready to deter-
mine on his future!, He and his household had begun to
look absolute hunger in the face, and still they were kept
quiet by promises. ¢ Barguyn the treasurer,” wrote Chape-
lain, on the seventeenth of May?, ¢ has been absent till now,
and promises to make Martin of Troyes pay you your salary
in Lyons. Her highness does not deny that she will some
day do what you desire, but she is making a long matter
of it.” Nine days afterwards he reports that he has given
to the Queen letters from Agrippa, but that he can get
no definite reply. “I know by my own experience,”
he adds®, “how difficult that is, for I have wanted one
thing from her for many years, and have not received it,
and almost despair of getting it, though I have had not
unfrequently her promise. We are treating about peace
with an uncertain issue. Thanks for the prognostications.
! Ep. 9, Lib. iv. p. 838, for the preceding facts.
* Ep. 10, Lib. iv. p. 839, 3 Ep. 12, Lib. iv. p. 840.
VOL. II. K
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I gave one to our friend Barguyn. To-morrow I depart
for Paris, and thence go to St. Germain.” At length, with
the June weather, there came a letter that seemed to
report promises more definite than usual. It was from the
Bishop of St. Paul Trois-Chéteaux, Michael d’Arandial,
reporting the issue of a conversation he had just been
having with the King, in which Agrippsa’s case was repre-
sented. Francis spoke of the unlucky scholar more kindly
than ever, promising that he should have the money due
to him and more to boot. Moreover, said the bishop,
“M. Chapelain has written by the order of the queen-
mother herself to the treasurer, who now is at Lyons,
commanding him to pay your salary.”

Hope flutters her wings and does not think of flying.
Dread of hunger vanishes, and the threadbare philosopher
can look with a new satisfaction on his wife, and on his
annually expanding family of children. What can he do
to express his thankfulness to the good bishop, who has
been so fortunate in intercession? He must send some
little gift; and, looking through the heap of his own
writings in his study, he selects a little paper proper to be
dedicated to a Christian priest, and sends it to him, with
some modest words, in a most grateful letter?.

The brief essay dedicated to the bishop was Agrippa’s
% Dehortation from Gentile Theology.” Brief as it is’,

1 Ep. 14, Lib. iv. p. 841.

2 Ep. 15, Lib. iv. p. 841.

3 H. C. A. Dehortatio Gentilis Theologie, ad amicos aliquos quondam pero-

rata. It occupies only nine pages (sig. fol. H fi~-H vi.) in the Opuscula,
od. Mense Sept. 15632.
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there is a depth of meaning in it, for it marks distinctly
what had been the influence of recent lessons on its
author’s life. A year or two before this time, probably
while he was at Cologne, before his settlement in Switzer-
land, some young friends of Agrippa who believed in him,
had asked him to give them a lecture on the subject
which they understood he had expounded with so much
success at Pisa, the “ Pimander,” or book on the divine
nature, of Hermes Trismegistus. Instead of complying
with their desire, he wrote for them and read to them this
Dehortation, againstthe mistake of looking for a know-
ledge of God to the wise heathens, when there were -
the Scriptures to be searched. Ount of the depth of his
desire for a revived study of the Gospel in its purity, he
urged them earnestly to betake themselves to faithful
study of the Scriptures. “Is it,” he asked, because
there is not a God in Israel, that ye send to inquire of
" Baal-zebub, the god of Ekron ?” What virtue is there
—and virtue there is—in Hermes, Plato, Plotinus,
ZAmilius, Jamblichus, Proclus, that is not better taught
by the Apostles, the Evangelists, the Lord himself?
Why go to those worthies before we have gone to Him
who is the truth and the way? We need for the study of
divine things a pure, free mind, not infected by corrupt
doctrines, which root ignorance so firmly in the name of
knowledge, that it cannot be uprooted; and we think we
know, and we declare that to be catholicity and truth,
which after all is heresy and error. ¢ But when your mind
is once established in sound doctrine, then by the light of
K2
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it you are free to wander safely through the gloom of
error, you may freely penetrate all depths of study. Then,
if you enter, like Ulysses, the cave of the Cyclops, and
descend even to hell, you return scathless ; if you drink
the cup of Circe you will not be changed: if you steer
your way by Scylla you will not be swallowed in the
gulf ; if you listen to the Sirens you will not be laid to
sleep, but will be as the Apostle declares, of all men judg-
ing, judged by none. The doctrines of the heathen then
will be of the greatest aid to you, and by their help you
may ascend to the loftiest theology.” That is the whole
purport of this Dehortation,—that young men should
go for wisdom to the Scriptures, search them with free
minds, and obey the teaching of the Gospel, as the only
basis of a sound philosophy.
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CHAPTER VII.

LABOUR AND BSORROW.

CHAPELAIN had in many letters told Agrippa that
his cares were ended, that his salary was to be paid. The
Bishop of Bazas, in Guienne, had written that by his in-
tercession all was settled. The Seneschal of Lyons had
sent to his friend the same good news, and the Baron
Laurentin (godfather to another of the children) had sent
comfort also from the court. ¢ By this hope,” Agrippa
wrote, in the middle of June, “I have been highly de-
lighted, but to this moment not a speck of money has
been seen. Martin of Troyes says that nothing has been
written to him by Barguyn, so that my affair has not
come to my net, but is still in its web among the spiders.
I have let all my good birds escape, and am compelled
to chase the fliest.” Two more weeks passed over the
afflicted household of the scholar, not the only man whose
fine spirit was fretted with the knowledge of what hell it
is in suing long to bide : at the end of that time Cornelius

1 Ep. 16, Lib. iv. p. 848.
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again attacked Martin of Troyes, who told him then
that he had received orders from Barguyn for the pay-
ment of various moneys, but that there was'no mention in
the letter of Cornelius Agrippa'. He wrote immediately
to the Bishop of Bazas, telling him how he was forced to
lose good days that might be better spent, and how, if his
salary was still withheld from him, penned up in Lyons,
now unable to stir through poverty, he must altogether
perish. Could the King procure for him a portion of his
promised income, anything with which to meet the pre-
sent need” ? A few days after this letter was written, a
brief note came to Cornelius from the King’s doctor,
Chapelain, telling him that Treasurer Barguyn had
commissioned one Antony Bullion of Lyons to pay the
money that was owing®. To which note the reply is
very touching*:

“ Your letter, written on the twenty-ninth of June, my
dearest Chapelain, I received on the seventh of July, and
learn from it that our friend Barguyn has referred the pay-
ment of my salary to one Antony Bullion, of Lyons. If
Barguyn wished me well, as you write that he does, and de-
sired my money to be paid to me, he would not have re-
ferred me to that Antony whom he knew to be absent from
here, but either to Martin of Troyes, as was before arranged,
or to some other, either resident here or passing through
the town. On the day that I received your letter I went
with M. Aimar de Beaujolois, a judge, a polished man,

! Ep. 20, Lib. iv. p. 846. 2 Ep. 22, Lib. iv. p. 847.'
3 Ep, 28, Lib. iv. p. 848. + Ep. 25, Lib. iv. pp. 848, 850.
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and one of my best friends here, and had some trouble in
meeting with Thomas Bullion, the brother of that Antony;
he did not altogether deny that he had orders to pay me,
but said he was ordered to pay in these words: if he found
that he could,~if there remained any money with him,
At last he said he would refer again to his instructions,
and that I should have an answer from him the next
motning. On the next day, therefore, when we anxiously
called many times upon the man, he, hiding at home,
feigned absence, until at a late hour of the night we de-
parted, having made a very close acquaintance with his
door. On the next day, however, the before-mentioned
judge meets him, questions him on my behalf, and presses
him; he replies that he will come over shortly to my
house and settle with me about the stipend; and, with
that falsehood, securing an escape, in the same hour he
mounted his horse and rode away, as it is said, to join the
court. You see how we are played with! Think of
me, fought against on every side by sorrows—by griefs,,
indeed, greater and more incessant than I care to write..
There is no friend here to help me; all comfort me with
empty words; and the court title, ‘which should have:
brought me honour and profit, aggravates my hurt, by
adding against me envy to contempt.” He goes on to.
repeat how he was led by false promises into his false
position at Lyons, and how he was taught to feed on
hope, to pine with fear and sorrow. ¢ Held in suspense,”
he says, “by this continual hope, to this hour no mes-
senger has told me whether to remain at this place or quit



136 CORNELIUS AGRIPPA.

it: here, therefore, I live with my large family as a pil-
grim in a caravansary, and that in the most expensive of
all towns, under a load of charges, subject to no little loss.
You write that the Queen will some day comply with my
request; but that she is always slow—slow also in your
affairs. 'What if in the mean time I perish? Truly, so
slow a fortune cannot save me, mighty goddess as she is.
Perhaps you will say I should propitiate her with some
sacrifice—a ram, or a bull, and those of the fattest—that
her wings may grow, and she may fly to me the faster;
but so extreme is my want of everything, that I could not
find her a cake or a pinch of frankincense.” He entreats,
therefore, his friend at court to conquer for him those
obstacles with the Queen, that he, who has placed all his
hope in her, who has left all other means of living at her
bidding and the King’s, may not be reduced to the last
limit of despair. % For believe me,” he adds, “ my affairs
and my temper so incline, that if you cannot win for me
a speedy help I shall be following some evil counsel,
since there is good fortune to be had out of ill doing.”

* In the middle of July this was written. Still the weary
days of cross and care followed each other; on the eighth
of August a new doubt arose. Martin of Troyes had pro-
fessed himself Agrippa’s friend, and had himself written
in several letters to Barguyn for instructions on the subject
of the salary; with'the answers to each of these letters
came a reply on every point contained in them but one:
the subject of Agrippa was passed over without a word.
The cry of his heart now is, “ Would that I could be per-
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mitted to despair!!” Yet at this very time his services
are being used by the queen-mother, and he has been
putting aside at her command his private labours for a
most annoying task, out of the performance of whlch
added trouble is to come.

Forty years old is Agrippa now; conscious of strength,
subservient to no man, but the centre of his own small
circle in the great, community of scholars. He has reached
the age when commonly the form of a man’s mind or of
his fortune becomes definite, and, roughly speaking, re-
presents the spirit of his whole career. With meaner
aspirations in his soul, he perhaps would have mounted
. higher on the path to fame and honour which he had a
right to seek, and sought with honest industry. His mind
had grown in stature and in power, but it had grown to
knowledge that procured him enemies among the priests.
While Louisa of Savoy and her son Francis were becom-
ing known as persecutors, and obedient to such influence
as flowed from the Sorbonne, we cannot be surprised at
the neglect suffered by Cornelius Agrippa. His corre-
spondence with his friends at court was sometimes inter-
cepted?. His scorn of the corrupt dealings of the worldly
class of priests—the class most able to thwart him in the
world—was not concealed; it broke out in his books, his
letters, and his conversation.

Especial utterance it found in a book of ambitious size
and more ambitious aim, to the writing of which he had
betaken himself at the beginning of his cares in Lyons.

! Ep. 80, Lib. iv. p. 854. 2 Ep. 30 and 31, Lib. iv. pp. 854-865.
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While busy with the pen he could keep all his cares at
bay; and that he was so busied, and intensely busied, that
his brain was at work upon more labours than one, and
chiefly upon one, a book written in these his later days of
disappointment—about which the second half of his life
appears to gather, as the first half of it gathered round the
cruder books of occult science, written in his early days of
hope—it is proper here to indicate. He did not utterly
consume this portion of his life in beating at the doors of
obdurate sub-treasurers and treasurers. Out of his own
treasury of thought during all these miserable months
the coin flowed with more than customary freedom.
Even in the manner of his letters we see how the wit is
being spurred by trouble, how an active brain does its sad
battle with an aching heart.

Among Agrippa’s correspondents, during the two months
of trouble among treasurers that have been last accounted
for, was a Dominican, Peter Lavindus, who had made his
acquaintance while delivering the Quadragesimal discourse
at Liyons, and after his return to his own monastery was
afflicted with some worldly trouble or perplexity, in which
he was most anxious to determine rightly on his future
course. Impressed by the reputation for occult knowledge
that Agrippa had, this friar sent a messenger with a mys-
terious letter, begging earnestly of Cornelius that he would
on his behalf consult the stars!. ¢ Judicial astrology,” he
was told in reply, “is nothing more than the fallacious
guess of superstitious men, who have founded a science on

! Ep. 17, Lib. iv. p. 843.
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uncertain, things and are deceived by it: so think nearly
all the wise ; as such it is ridiculed by some most noble
philosopheys; Christian theologians reject it, and it is con-
demned by sacred councils of the Church. Yet you,
whose office it is to dissuade others from these vanities,
oppressed, or rather blinded by I know not what distress
of ‘mind, flee to this as to a sacred augur, and as if
there were no God in Israel, that you send to inquire
of the god of Ekron.” Having thus spoken his mind
faithfully and privately, as ¢ a Christian bound to support
his meighbour in the faith,” he says, ¢ Lest you think me
but denying you, and by a subterfuge avoiding trouble
for a friend, I will do all that you .ask me, to the best of
my ability, having thus warned you first not to put more
faith in these judgments than befits a Christianl.”
Another of Agrippa’s cares during this time was to
attend at the death-bed of & physician of Dijon who had
become his friend, to announce his loss in: gentle words,
and take thought for his widow and his children?.
Another incident in his life during these months was
his meeting in the streets .of Lyons with an old friend,
Christopher, from Metz, and a glad rushing to him, in
the hope of a despatch from Brennon; but the thought-
less Christopher had come away without asking for

! Ep. 19, Lib. iv. pp. 844, 845.

2 Ep. 18, Lib. iv. p. 843. Itis headed Amicus ad Agrippam, but should
be Agrippa ad Amicum. As it stands, it gives Cornelius charge, as nearest
friend, of the widow and children of a physician of Dijon, who fell sick
and died at Lyons after an illness of some days ; Agrippa knowing nothing
of it until all was over, and then being informed in a consolatory letter.
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errands. The "sight of him, however, soon produced a
letter from Agrippa to his friend, with whom he had for
two years been without means of communicating. By
diligent inquiry there was found a travelling trader whose
affairs carried him sometimes through Metz as well as
Lyons; through him, therefore, Cornelius told, hiding
his sorrows, what he was expecting; asked Brennon for
letters, which were to be addressed to the Baron Claudius
Laurentin, commended himself to hisold friends by name,
and “ to the ears of Jacob, the librarian, for I am told that
on account of Lutheranism, he has left nothing of himself
but them at Metz.” The letter also contains this passage :
“I commend to you the funeral rites of my late dear wife,
buried in your church, that no duty relating to her be
omitted : but that as I disposed and founded, all be exe-
cuted and completely carried out; and that I beseech of
you again and again, by the memory of all the hours you
spent with her and me, and as the sacred bond of our
perpetual friendship!.”

Brennon replies to this: “ The obsequies of your wife,
on the anniversary of her death, we celebrate as you de-
sired ; that is to say, on the day before the anniversary,
the vigils for the dead, but on the next a solemn mass.
Also we announce on the preceding Sunday, that during
the week there will be these services.” Of Metz gossip
he sends, of course, a fit supply, in two letters written
to his friend, on successive days®. The Steganography
of Trithemius and Agrippa’s manuscript of his own

1 Ep. 20, Lib. iv. pp. 845, 846. * Ep, 26 and 27, Lib. iv. pp. 850-852.
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Geomancy, in an oblong book, Cornelius had not lost,

but left behind him in the hurry of his leaving Metz.

They shall be duly forwarded. Tyrius the clockmaker
(he who was seeking the philosopher’s stone) is always

prepared for great things, but he is often drunk. Car-
boneus is going soon to Cologne, and will bring news

back of Agrippa’s parents. Thus we find that his mother
was still living; and if the plural be no error of Brennon’s,

she had married again, as was quite possible.

A young physician, now four-and-twenty years of age,
had been among the youths who heard Cornelius at Pavia,
and being in Metz, had recommended himself by praise of
Agrippa to the good priest Brennon. This youth, John
Paul, having the world before him, offered to walk to
Lyons, taking Brennon’s letters and the books—the Ste-
ganography and Geomancy ;—at Lyons, since the town
was large, Cornelius a kindly man and a court physician,
he hoped, with Agrippa’s influence, to begin rising in the
world, if not as a physician, yet perhaps by being recom-
mended to the post of tutor to a noblemanl. The yZ)ung
doctor marched as long as money lasted, and broke down
at Langres, when he had achieved about a hundred and
twenty of the two hundred and sixty or seventy miles he
had proposed to walk. At Langres he contrived to live
in decent esteem upon the reputation of the brother, who
was a court physician, to whom he said he was travelling,
and who would send him some money, and he contrived

1 ‘This incident is from Brennon’s Letters and three others, 28, 33, and
38, of the Fourth Book.



142 CORNELIUS AGRIPPA.

to send, by a person travelling from Langres to Lyons,
a letter to Agrippa, telling.his misfortunes, begging that
he would not injure him by repudiating the fraternity he
had been claiming, when at his wit’s end, and aslking for
the loan of two gold crowns to carry him on with the
books—he made much talk about the books—to Lyons.
Out of his wretched means, Cornelius squeezed the two
gold crowns, and sent them, through a druggist of
Langres, to whom he told his young friend that he
might apply for them if they were wanted, but he as-
sured him that it was not in the least worth his while
to travel any farther. He was quite as likely to make a
practice or to find friends at Langres as at Liyons ; he had
better, therefore, wait and try his fortune where he was.
As for the books, they could be sent quite safely through
- the druggist. The young doctor replied that he had
never found so much use and comfort in his life from
thirty crowns as from those two, which he hoped he might
live to repay. That he would be advised and stay at
Lan.gree, though he feared he wanted two main requisites
for success as a physician, age and pomposity.

Such incidents of life, and energetic progress with the
book to which allusion has been made, varied the days
and weeks and months of weary waiting upon princes
favour, of sad watching of a wife’s pale cheek, and anxious
thought about the future of a little family of children.

One noticeable topic more arose. The friend to whom
he had sent prescriptions for the gout, and who had
crossed the Alps before they reached him, had a neigh-
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bour who had been changing his profession. He had left
the Law and gone into the Church. “I want to know,”
* Agrippa wrote to his friend, during those anxious months
—“T want to know about our Achilles, how he is fitted
‘with the cowl and wooden shoes, and all their family of
disguises ? whether, as before, he has admirably perfected:
himself in the art of pleading, having the laws ready to
support every opinion; able to cast, recast, bend and twist
them into the same shape with his own gloss, and even
contest oath against oath? Is he as quick now in the
brother trade, or cowl trade, that is, the trade of syco-
phancy ? " Is he skilled in feigned sanctimony and the
way of stealing by an impudent mendicity? With
rubbing of the forehead and importunate hypocrisy, can
he rake money in from every side, minding that he does
not-take hold of it with naked hands? Does he think
no gain disgracefal made in the market-place, the choir, -
the church, the schools, courts, palaces, councils, festive
assemblies, taverns, barbers’ shops, public and private ga-
therings, confessions and disputes; from the benches, the
chairs, the pulpits; in scattering among the people, by an
impudent craft, trumpery indulgences, selling good actions,
Imeasuring out ceremonies; tearing from merchants, usurers,
and grasping nobles their ill-gotten prey ? Can he chouse
of their money the fat citizens, unlearned people, super-
stitious crones ; attract weak little women, and, after the
way of the Serpent, tempt them to the ruin of the men ?
Can he, in fine, meddle with everything? join in unlaw-
ful marriage, adjust quarrels, reform nuns, doing all for
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his own profit? If he has mastered all this, and much
more than can be written in a hurried letter, he will
never regret having been changed from an advocate into
a brother.  If not, he had better go & xépaxas, or rather
to the galleys!.”

¢ Through the royal promises,” Agrippa wrote again to
Chapelain, early in August, “Iam turned like Ixion on a
wheel, haunted by all the furies. I am almost losing
human senses, and become good for nothing : wherefore
I am the apter perhaps for prophecy, which some think
comes best from mad people, as if the loss of human wit
meant the-acquisition of divine, and what the wise man
cannot foresee, the fool can.” Thus he wrote, under the
annoyance of a command from the queen-mother, that he
should consult the stars for her upon the future issue of the
contest with the Emperor and Bourbon. Having lost, as
he said, all but honour at Pavia, and been carried prisoner
to Madrid, King Francis had just obtained his freedom
by the force of vows and promises, which' he was now
making up his mind to break. Having lost all but
honour, he was sacrificing that to regain everything else.
His mother, bigoted and superstitious, wished to know
the issue of their policy by help of the stars, and issued
orders for a horoscope to her servant Cornelius Agrippa.
“I am in the right way,” he said, ¢ to become a prophet,
and obey my mistress; I wish I may predict her some-
thing pleasant, but what pleasant prophecies are you to

1 Ep. 82, Lib. iv. pp. 855, 856. See also De Incert. et Van. Scientiarum,
cap. lv.
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get out of the furies and Hecate ? All the mad prophets
of antiquity foresaw nothing but murder, slaughter, war,
and havoc, and I know not how mad people can foresee
other than the works of madmen. I fear, then, that I
shall prophesy in this way, unless some good Apollo,
chasing off the furies, visit me with his light in beams of
gold. But I will mount the tripod, prophesy, or guess,
and send the result ere long to the Princess, using those
astrological superstitions by which the Queen shows her-
self so greedy to be helped—using them, as you know,
unwillingly, and compelled by her violent prayers. I
have written, however, to the Seneschal that he should
admonish her no longer to abuse my talent by condemning
it to such unworthy craft, nor force me any more to
stumble through this idle work, when I am 4ble to be
helpful to her with more profitable studies?.”

He did write that request to his well-meaning but
clumsy friend, the Seneschal of Lyons; and the good
Seneschal, instead of following the hint by dropping here
and there a fit remark to modify the lady’s notion of the
sort of service for which her physician was most fit, placed
in her hands Agrippa’s letter®.

- On the twenty-fifth of August, Cornelius had found rea-
son to fear that other letters of his had been seen. Doctor
Chapelain had for some time sent him no replies, and it
appeared, at length, that he had been at Orleans, while his
letters were sent to the court. Of course there had been
2 good deal of plain-speaking in them on the subject of
! Ep. 29, Lib. iv. pp. 868, 854. 2 Ep. 40, Lib. iv. p. 860.
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Barguyn and Bullion, and it was to be hoped that they
had not fallen among thieves. At that date he wrote,
also!, “I have just completed those revolutions, according
to the superstition of astrology, which the Princess so
eagerly desired ; but as you are absent from the court, I
know not to whose hand to commit them, unless the
Princess herself name some person. I know not whether
she will. I have caused her to be admonished by our
Seneschal, if he receives my letters.”

A few days afterwards Chapelain was at the court, and
found, what mischief had been done. The queen-mother
herself sent for him, and told him that the Seneschal
of Lyons had shown her a letter from Agrippa, which
suggested that she made improper use of judicial as-
trology, and was led by a vain hope and superstitious
faith ; whereat she felt a little hurt. Agrippa was to be
told to set himself at rest about the astrological predic-
tions; that she held him in high esteem without them?.
- It was rumoured, Chapelain also wrote, that they were to
go to Lyons—he hoped so, and that Cornelius would
have an opportunity of saying something about Chris-
tianity before the King. It was all right as to his salary.
Antony Bullion had promised to write to his brother that
it was to be paid directly. Two men, with views upon
Church matters like Agrippa’s, Nicolas Cop and the old
Faber Stapulensis, who were both then with Margaret of
Valois, desired to have Cornelius saluted in their name.

More days elapsed, and then there came two letters

1 Ep. 86, Lib. iv. p. 858. 2 Ep. 37, Lib. iv. p. 859.
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from Chenonceaux; one short one from the Bishop of
Bazas!, simply exhorting the unhappy waiter upon royal
leisure to believe what Chapelain had written in the other.
Chapelain wrote? that he believed Barguyn and Bullion to
be Agrippa’s friends; that it was an unlucky mistake of
the Seneschal’s to show Agrippa’s letter to the Queen
Louisa, since it had compelled all his friends to be silent
before her. That he must by all means send his astrolo-
gical calculation to her highness, and without delay, act-
ing as if in entire ignorance of what had happened. That
to avoid suspicion, he had better direct it to be presented
by the Seneschal, and that the Queen having received it,
would commumicate it to the court, upon which there
would arise occasion to assist the absent doctor with
legitimate apology.

Cornelius, to the most important clause in this letter,
could only replys, “I repeat, that I am in & marvellous
way defrauded by that M. Bullion. You know that I
have not received the letters which you say you forwarded
to me through him, and that his brother denies ever having
letters or commissions from him. Unless you procure pay-
ment for me through Martin of Troyes, I am doomed to
receive nothing. Farewell, and be happy,—From Lyons,
September 11, 1526. Greetings to you from my dearest
wife, who labours under a double tertian fever; and I
have some fear lest, through the distress of mind she
suffers, it may pass into a quartan. Of this most knavish

! Ep. 89, Lib. iv. p. 860. 2 Ep. 40, Lib. iv. p. 860.
3 Ep. 41, Lib. iv. p. 861
L2



148 CORNELIUS AGRIPPA.

sport those treasurers are authors: may all gods and
goddesses confound them! But again and again I say,
may you be happy.”

Four days afterwards, Thomas Bullion, met in the
street, went so far as to confess! that he had been in-
structed to pay to Cornelius what money he received;
but he denied the receipt of instructions from his brother
to make payment forthwith. Agrippa still begged that
he might get his salary through Martin of Troyes. “I
do not trust the Bullions, but if they pay me, I shall be
appeased: if not, I must still be importunate with letters,
whereof you perhaps are weary, and which they despise;
Iin the mean time shall hunger. Greet for me Cop,
and Faber. My wife greets you; she continues ill.”

It is hard to realise the weary misery of the position to
which learned and high-spirited men were reduced when
they were promised means of living by a prince not active
to see that the promise was fulfilled, and so were left to
haunt the doors of underlings, and to be treated with dis-
dain by knaves. But here we have the whole tale told.
On the sixteenth of September®, Agrippa had found that
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